
POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 
Venue: Town Hall, Moorgate 

Street, Rotherham.  S60  
2TH 

Date: Monday, 31st March, 2014 

  Time: 1.00 p.m. 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
1. To determine if the following matters are to be considered under the categories 

suggested, in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972.  
  

 
2. To determine any item which the Chairman is of the opinion should be 

considered as a matter of urgency.  
  

 
3. Apologies for Absence.  
  

 
4. Questions from Members of the Public.  
  

 
5. Minutes of the Previous Meeting held on 31st January, 2014 (herewith) (Pages 

1 - 8) 
  

 
6. Sub Regional Priorities - Verbal Report from Scrutiny Panels:-  

 
 
a. Doncaster. 

 
b. Sheffield. 
 
c. Rotherham. 
 
d. Barnsley. 

 
7. Joint Working Protocols (report herewith) (Pages 9 - 21) 
  

 
8. Police and Crime Panels - The First Year (report herewith) (Pages 22 - 54) 
  

 
9. Work Programme and Meeting Dates 2014/15 (information herewith) (Page 55) 
  

 

 



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - 31/01/14 17J 

 

 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
31st January, 2014 

 
 
Present:-  
 
Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council:- 
 
Councillor R. Sixsmith 
 
Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council:- 
 
Councillor P. Bartlett 
Councillor J. McHale 
 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council:- 
 
Councillor J. Akhtar  
Councillor T. Sharman 
 
Sheffield City Council:- 
 
Councillor R. Davison 
Councillor H. Harpham (Chairman) 
 
Co-opted Members:- 
 
Mr. A. Carter 
Mr. K. Walayat 
  
Apologies for Absence were received from:- 
 
Councillor T. Hussain (Sheffield City Council) 
 
 
J25. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  

 
 (1)  A member of the public referred to Item 7 (Website) on the agenda 

and asked, if the report was approved, how could the public become more 
involved in this website development to ensure it was user-friendly?  
 
The Chairman confirmed that the development of the website for the 
Police and Crime Panel was a key objective as part of the process to 
engage the public in its work.  As part of Item 7 it was proposed that a 
small working group be convened to consider the design and 
development of the website with members of community groups being 
invited to participate. 
 
(2)  A member of the public asked could the Police and Crime 
Commissioner give some clarification on how he sees the changes he 

Agenda Item 5Page 1



18J  POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - 31/01/14  

 

 

wants for the future Pact meetings working and why does he feel they 
should be chaired by a Councillor or member of the public? 
 
The Chairman advised that this was a question for the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and was not something the Panel could consider.  The 
question was to be forwarded to the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
Office for a response. 
 

J26. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS  
 

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the previous meetings held on 
2nd December, 2013. 
 
With regards to Minute No. J19 (Support Session) Councillor Akhtar made 
reference to the numbers of religiously motivated attacks and asked the 
Police and Crime Commissioner if appropriate performance monitoring 
could be collated to include religion. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner gave his assurance that this request 
would be taken away and looked into further. 
 
Clarification was also sought under this minute on the progress to date on 
the roles of Local Authority Scrutiny Panels and it was noted that plans 
were in hand to extend an invitation to Chairpersons of Scrutiny Panels 
and for this to commence as early as the next meeting. 
 
Reference was also made to Minute No. J20 (Complaints Procedure) and 
clarification sought on the rules and procedures surrounding an 
anonymous complaint. 
 
With regards to Minute No. 21 (Policing in Austerity) it was suggested that 
further information be provided from the Police and Crime Commissioner 
about the management of future risks. 
 
Resolved:-  That the minutes of the previous meetings held on 2nd 
December, 2013 be agreed as a true record. 
 

J27. PRECEPT PROPOSAL FOR THE YEAR TO 31ST MARCH, 2015  
 

 Consideration was given to a report and presentation made by Shaun 
Wright, Police and Crime Commissioner, and supported by Steve Pick, 
Treasurer, which detailed his ongoing determination to reduce crime 
levels and maintain/increase policing visibility. 
 
In accordance with Paragraph 2 of Schedule 5 of the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act 2011, the Police and Crime Commissioner 
introduced his proposed precept for the financial year 2014/15 set at a 
level which increased the annual Band D Council Tax amount by 2%, 
equivalent to an annual increase of £2.85 (6p per week). 
 

Page 2



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - 31/01/14 19J 

 

 

Several factors were taken into account in reaching this position 
including:- 
 

• The likelihood of future Grant reductions. 

• An on-going determination to reduce crime levels and 
maintain/increase policing visibility. 

• The need to dedicate additional resources to particular specialist 
areas. 

• A continuing commitment to invest in Reducing Re-offending. 
Restorative Justice, Victim Support and Community Safety 
Initiatives. 

• An increased commitment to the protection of vulnerable people. 
 
The general question of ‘affordability’ had also played into the proposal 
and in particular the impact on Council Tax payers of increasing the 
precept by the proposed amount. 
 
The provisional proposal for 2014/15 was that the Precept be increased 
by £2.85 at Band D.   
 
The Government’s 2014/15 Referendum Criteria was still yet to be 
announced and the proposal presented in this report was consequently 
provisional and assumed that there would be a 2% limit on Police and 
Crime Commissioner Precept increases. However, in the event that a 
higher limit was imposed, the Panel’s agreement to a higher Precept 
increase (max 2.9%; equivalent to £4.13 per annum/8p per week) would 
be sought in order to accelerate the planned investment in the Protection 
of Vulnerable People. If on the other hand the limit was set at a level 
below the 2% assumption, further net cost reductions would be identified 
in order to protect the proposed investment in that important area of 
activity. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner explained in more detail as to what 
would be provided via the proposed budget and his plans to set 
challenging savings/efficiency targets for the Force during 2014/15.   
 
It was pointed out that the level of Grant from Central Government had 
been further reduced.  On a like for like comparison this reduction 
amounted to £9.4 million (4.5%) for 2014/15. Approximately £3 million 
resulted from a ‘top slicing’ of the National Police Grant to fund National 
initiatives, including £50 million to establish a ‘Police Innovation Fund’; 
£18 million to build up the capacity of the IPCC; £9 million to increase the 
frequency of HMIC inspections, £3 million for the College of Policing and 
£2 million for the National Police Co-ordination Centre. 
 
The Government appeared to remain committed to a Police Funding 
Review.  The possibility that such a Review would produce a detrimental 
outcome in respect of South Yorkshire had been factored into the 
consideration of Reserves and the strategy for their future use.  Pending 
the outcome of any Funding Review and using available Home Office 

Page 3



20J  POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - 31/01/14  

 

 

indications, including the prospect of greater ‘top slicing’, it was currently 
assumed that the Grant would reduce by a further £10 million in 2015/16. 
 
Further information was provided on the precept proposal being 
predicated on a 2014/15 budget allocation to the Chief Constable of 
£243.725 million, some £4.264 million of which would be funded from 
Specific Grants and Contributions initially payable to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner leaving a Force net budget requirement of £239.461m.   
  
The budget allocation provided funding for the Chief Constable to 
continue to maintain PCSO numbers at the current level of 328 and also 
to increase the capacity within the Force to respond to emerging Crime 
types with a particular emphasis on Public Protection issues. In particular, 
the proposal allocated more than £2 million for additional activity in this 
area with an intention to increase this further in 2015/16.  Furthermore, if 
the Precept rules allowed a higher increase this would be used to 
accelerate this proposal in 2014/15. 
 
The additional efficiency savings target which was allocated to the Force 
for 2013/14 was on course to be successfully delivered. It was not 
proposed to impose any further efficiency target for 2014/15, although an 
overtime reduction target had been agreed with the Chief Constable.  In 
addition, the Force has been asked to seek to accommodate the costs of 
any necessary Voluntary Early Retirements/Redundancies within the 
budget amount allocated for 2014/15. 
 
For 2013/14 the overall the Police and Crime Commissioner budget was 
set at the same level as had been in place for the former Police Authority 
in 2012/13. For 2014/15 it was intended to seek to operate within a 
reduced level of budget including a budget for the ‘Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner’ which was reduced broadly in line with the 2014/15 
reduction applicable to the Force. 
 
The Panel recalled that an integral part of the 2013/14 budget decision 
was the allocation of £4.5m (over 3 years) from Reserves to Partner 
Organisations to fund their priority initiatives. 2014/15 would be the 
second year of this three year funding plan.  The funding allocations 
underpinning that budgetary decision were set out in detail as part of the 
report. 
 
In spite of the Government removing specific funding for Community 
Safety activities (the Community Safety Fund), the intention was to 
continue the funding of such activities at the broadly the same level in 
2014/15. 
 
In terms of the Reserves Strategy, a minimum working balance had been 
set aside for unforeseen/unquantifiable threats and/or events.  Significant 
earmarking/commitment of Reserves had now been attached to a number 
of capital projects which would produce future revenue savings and avoid 
additional capital financing charges. A further amount was provisionally 

Page 4



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - 31/01/14 21J 

 

 

earmarked to provide future support to the Force budget to allow effective 
and well planned responses to further grant reductions with a particular 
emphasis on minimising impacts on front-line policing. 
 
A discussion and a question and answer session ensued and the 
following issues were raised and clarified:- 
 

• The complication for the Police and Crime Commissioner setting his 
precept proposal when the Government’s Referendum Criteria had 
not been set. 

• Affordability and the plans for a 2-2.9% in the Council Tax charge to 
taxayers. 

• Reasons for increasing the pressure on taxpayers for less than 
£400,00 extra income. 

• Accuracy of the figures presented. 

• The impact of voluntary severance on police officer and support staff 
numbers when the budget protects PCSO numbers. 

• Opportunity for further efficiencies to avoid an increase in the 
precept. 

• The further net cost reductions to protect investments. 

• Overall level of reserves. 

• Details of investments and service developments. 

• Public Protection activity and what this entails. 

• Measures to align the spending with similar forces. 

• Budget reductions for the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office 
and the Force budget which seem disproportionate at 2% and 2.6% 
respectively. 

• Reasons for increases in commissioning and partnership activities. 

• Uses of the planned capital allocation from the Government. 

• Funded capital schemes from reserves and the savings expected to 
be generated. 

• Details of the capital schemes. 

• Fluidation of reserves with no indication from the Home Office 
regarding the costs associated with Hillsborough. 

• Referendum threshold and avoidance in South Yorkshire. 
 
The Panel considered all options open to them having listened to the 
Police and Crime Commissioner’s proposals and in his answers to the 
questions raised. 
 
The Panel were satisfied with the proposals as long as the Police and 
Crime Commissioner recognised that the eventual precept should not be 
at such a level as to trigger a referendum once the referendum threshold 
was known. 
 
Resolved:-  (1)  That should the maximum Precept increase for Police and 
Crime Commissioners be 2%, the proposals within the report and the 
proposed precept increase for 2014/15 at £2.85 per annum (Band D) be 
endorsed.  

Page 5



22J  POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - 31/01/14  

 

 

 
(2)  That in the event that the maximum Precept increase for Police and 
Crime Commissioners is greater than 2%, consideration be given to an 
alternative proposal involving an increase of more than 2% (max 2.9%) 
with the additional income (max £400k approx.) being matched by an 
increased investment to accelerate new activity in the Protection of 
Vulnerable People.  
 
(3)  That in the event that the maximum Precept increase for Police and 
Crime Commissioners is below the current 2% assumption, consideration 
be given to a Precept increase at that maximum level with the reduced 
income being matched by net cost reductions not affecting the proposed 
South Yorkshire Police Budget for 2014/15 
 
(4)  That in any event the Panel endorses and reinforces the proposals of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner and that in making these 
recommendations the result shall be that the eventual precept shall not be 
at such a level as to trigger a referendum. 
 
(5)  That the Police and Crime Commissioner shall publish his response to 
these recommendations by forwarding it to the Panel (which will publish 
the response on its website) and by publishing it on the Commissioner’s 
website. 
 

J28. WEBSITE  
 

 Consideration was given to a report presented by Deborah Fellowes, 
Scrutiny Manager, which set out two options with regard to developing a 
more effective website presence for the Police and Crime Panel, as part 
of its approach to increase public engagement in its work.  
 
It was agreed that whilst the Panel was becoming established, developing 
its ways of working and becoming familiar with its duties and 
responsibilities, there was little to be gained from seeking community 
engagement in its formal meetings.  It was concluded that the best 
opportunities to promote its work to the general public were through 
mechanisms such as its website.  The current website for the Panel was a 
page within the Rotherham Council’s website, with limited information 
about the Panel.   
 
There were two main options that included developing the current web 
page or to create a “galaxy” web page; effectively a website within the 
Rotherham website.   
 
It was suggested that the best means of taking this forward was for a 
small sub-group of the Police and Crime Panel to consider the report in 
detail and explore the options. 
 
Resolved:-  That the report be considered by a small sub-group to be led 
by Mr. A. Carter, assist by Councillor Sixsmith and that Panel Members be 

Page 6



POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - 31/01/14 23J 

 

 

contacted to see who else would like to take this forward. 
 

J29. DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME  
 

 Consideration was given to a report presented by Deborah Fellowes, 
Scrutiny Manager, which presented a draft work programme for 
consideration, in light of decisions taken at the last meeting in December 
2013, which included:- 
 

• Making a request to the Police and Crime Commissioner for timely 
and regular financial information, including early discussions around 
the proposed precept. 

• Setting up a task and finish group to look at a performance 
management framework for the Police and Crime Commissioner. 
Officer support from both the Panel’s and the Commissioner’s 
perspective to be incorporated. 

• Information sheets on key partner agencies to be provided (Jo Sykes 
already actioning). 

• Consider also establishing a task and finish group to look at 
Domestic Abuse. 

• Development of protocols in conjunction with the Commissioner, 
Community Safety Partnerships, Local Authority Scrutiny Panels and 
Criminal Justice Board. 

• Development and approval of a work plan.   
 
The work plan as submitted recognised the need for the scheduling of 
further meetings at an agreed time of 1.00 p.m, with the first being held on 
Monday, 31st March, 2014. 
 
Resolved:-  That the draft work plan be approved. 
 

J30. UPDATE ON THE HANDLING OF COMPLAINTS  
 

 Consideration was given to a report presented by Jacqueline Collins, 
Monitoring Officer, which updated the Panel with regard to the nature and 
level of complaints that have been received and the action taken. 
 
The following complaints have been received:- 
 

• A complaint that the Police and Crime Commissioner had failed to 
act in relation to a complaint that had been referred to him and 
complaints in respect of two members of the staff of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner 
 
As the complaint against the Police and Crime Commissioner related 
to the administration of justice, which was not a matter for which the 
Police and Crime Commissioner had responsibility, it was 
determined by the Monitoring Officer that the complaint did not fall 
within the Panel’s complaints procedure. 

 

Page 7



24J  POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - 31/01/14  

 

 

With regard to the complaints relating to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s staff, these were not matters that fell to be 
considered by the Panel and the complainant was referred to the 
procedures operated by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. 
 
The Monitoring Officer consulted the Chair and the Deputy Chair 
regarding these matters, who both endorsed the proposed course of 
action. 

 

• A complaint that the Police and Crime Commissioner had been 
derogatory in his public comments regarding South Yorkshire Police 
officers. 

 
The complaint was considered by the Monitoring Officer to be a 
personal comment which did not fall to be considered under the 
complaints procedure. The Deputy Chair was consulted and agreed 
with the proposed course of action. The Chair was not consulted as 
this complaint was dealt with in the period between the previous and 
current Chairman being appointed. 

 

• Two further complaints have been received, neither of which had 
any supporting evidence. Whilst extensive detail was not required it 
was the responsibility of complainants to provide sufficient 
information to enable a preliminary consideration of the complaint to 
be undertaken. The Panel had no power to conduct its own 
investigation. 

 
This position had been explained to the complainants who may, if 
they wish, submit further details. 

 
As a result of a query by a member of the public consideration was to be 
given to developing guidance for the public as to which complaints should 
be directed to the Police and Crime Panel, the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable. 
 
Resolved:-  That the level of complaints and how they have been 
considered be noted. 
 

J31. DATES AND TIMES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 

 Consideration was given to the dates and times of future meeting. 
 
It was suggested that this be considered in more detail, but that the next 
meeting would take place on Monday, 31st March, 2014. 
 
Resolved:-  That the next meeting take place at Rotherham Town Hall on 
Monday, 31st March, 2014 at 1.00 p.m. 

 

Page 8



 
 

1. Meeting: South Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel 

2. Date:  31st March 2014 

3. Title: Joint Working Protocols 

4. Organisation: RMBC – Host Authority 

 
 
5. Summary 
 
This report provides members of the Panel proposals to establish joint working 
protocols with the four Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees across Barnsley, 
Rotherham, Doncaster and Sheffield. 
 
6. Recommendations 
 
That the Panel: 
      
 

• Considers the most appropriate format for a draft working protocol to be 
developed and agreed with the four Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Committees. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SOUTH YORKSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL – REPORT TO MEMBERS  

Agenda Item 7Page 9



 
 
7. Proposals and details 
 
All Local Authorities have a statutory requirement to establish a Crime and Disorder 
Committee whose purpose is to scrutinise the work of the local Crime and Disorder 
Partnership.  This does not have to be a stand alone committee and many local 
authorities have subsumed this role within one of their existing Scrutiny committees 
or panels.  
 
Members from these four committees and their supporting officers, were invited to 
the Panel’s development day in November 2013. It was felt that there is ground to be 
gained by working closely together with these four committees and sharing 
information about work programmes to develop South Yorkshire priorities which can 
inform the work programme of the Police and Crime Panel.  Access to local 
information about the performance of Crime and Disorder Partnerships was also felt 
to be crucial for the Panel in terms of triangulation of evidence it may receive in as 
part of scrutinising the work of the Police and Crime Commissioner. As such, in a 
report to the Panel on the 2nd December 2013, it was agreed that the following were 
required: 
 

• A clear understanding of roles and responsibilities between the partners is 
required and agreed through protocols. 

• Local Authority Scrutiny panels should share work programmes with the PCP 
to help with the development of South Yorkshire wide priorities. 

 
Chairs of the four committees have been invited to the meeting, along with support 
officers, and will be discussing early ideas for their forthcoming work programmes.  
This report also aims to begin the discussions around the establishment of a joint 
working protocol between the PCP and the four Crime and Disorder Committees, to 
formalise this working arrangement. 
 
Appendix A and B contain two examples of such working protocols and panel 
members are requested to consider which elements of this examples would usefully 
be included in a first draft for South Yorkshire.  It is then proposed to discuss this 
draft further with the four Crime and Disorder Committees prior to agreeing it in its 
final format. 
 
8.   Finance 
 
No financial issues. 
 
9.   Risks and Uncertainties 
 
A clear agreement between the PCP and key partners will help to minimise any risks 
associated with this and will clarify roles and responsibilities in sharing key 
information. 
 
10. Background Papers and Consultation 
Appendix A and B 

Page 10



Contact 
 
Deborah Fellowes, 
Scrutiny Manager 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 
deborah.fellowes@rotherham.gov.uk Tel: 01709 822769 

Page 11



 
 
 
Appendix A: 
 

West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel 

Principles for Engagement:  

Local Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees 

 

Background to Local Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees 

Provisions in the Police and Justice Act 2006 extended the remit of local authorities 

to scrutinise crime and disorder functions and as of April 2009 each Council has been 

required to designate a Scrutiny Board to act as their ‘Crime and Disorder 

Committee.’  

 

‘Crime and Disorder Committees’ have the powers to review or scrutinise decisions 

made (or action taken) by the local Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and the 

‘responsible authorities’ that comprise it, but only with regards to activities which 

relate to the Partnership itself. 

 

 Impact of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

 Although the Act did not change the legal remit of local authority Crime and Disorder 

Scrutiny Committees, they will not have the power to directly scrutinise the Police 

and Crime Commissioner because he/ she will not be a ‘responsible authority’ on the 

CSP. 

 

Under previous arrangements the Scrutiny Committees could scrutinise the West 

Yorkshire Police Authority. However, the reforms signal a readjustment of 

responsibilities in relation to the scrutiny of policing in West Yorkshire. In this sense, 

the West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel will carry out part of the role previously 

exercised by Local Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees.  

 

 Rationale for Engagement 

The West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel fully recognise the benefits of 

establishing and maintaining strong links with the five Local Crime and Disorder 

Scrutiny Committees. These Local Scrutiny Committees can play a critical role in 

helping the Panel: 

Page 12



- To recognise the needs and concerns of local communities in relation to 

community safety and crime. 

- To better understand the link between the strategic direction set by the Police 

and Crime Commissioner and its impact on individual wards and 

neighbourhoods.  

- To assess the impact of all Partners on crime and community safety related 

issues in each district. 

- To apply the skills and expertise necessary to effectively scrutinise the Police and 

Crime Commissioner. 

- To focus on issues which are common to all of the West Yorkshire districts. 

- To maximise its resources by contributing to scrutiny work initiated by the West 

Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel. 

Equally, the West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel is eager to assist Local Crime and 

Disorder Scrutiny Committees by: 

- Holding the Commissioner to account if he/she 

• Has a detrimental impact on the safety or confidence of communities in 

West Yorkshire 

• Raises public concern due to their chosen approach 

• Acts in a way which would have previously prompted the Committee to 

‘call in the responsible authority.’ 

- Informing and supporting the Commissioner in such a way as to ensure his/ her 

approach and plans reflect the needs and interests of the diverse communities 

across West Yorkshire. 

- Promoting policing and community safety interventions which have proved 

successful in the past or are working well under the Commissioner.  

- Leading on scrutiny investigations on behalf of the five Scrutiny Committees 

where issues of sub-regional significance have been identified.  

Moving Forwards 

On the basis of the rationale outlined above, the West Yorkshire Police and Crime 

Panel will work in partnership with Local Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committees 

(CDCs) in the following ways: 

1. Panel Meetings 

1.1 CDC Chairs will, at the very least, be invited to meetings of the West 

Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel on an annual basis to engage in an open 

discussion about the impact of the Commissioner in each district and to 

review the relevance of the latest iteration of the ‘Principles for 

Engagement.’ 

Page 13



1.2 Should serious concerns arise during the year, the Panel may ask one or more 

CDC Chairs to attend additional Panel meetings and provide their perspective 

on the issue under consideration.  

1.3 CDC Chairs can request an item to be put on the agenda of a Panel meeting 

by contacting the Chair of the Panel directly and explaining the reason for the 

request.    

2. Influencing the Police and Crime Plan 

2.1 The Police and Crime Panel is in a fortunate position in terms of its ability to 

influence the development of the Police and Crime Plan and the CDCs are 

encouraged to inform the Panel’s approach when exercising this influence. 

2.2 The Police and Crime Panel will encourage the Commissioner to have regard 

to the business cases and strategic assessments submitted by the individual 

authorities when developing his/ her Police and Crime Plan and subsequent 

commissioning arrangements. 

2.3 CDCs will be sent a copy of all the draft iterations of the Police and Crime Plan 

that are submitted to the Panel and will be asked to return any comments or 

suggestions in advance of the Panel meeting during which the draft will be 

discussed. 

2.4 CDCs are also asked to brief their authority’s Panel Members in advance of 

any discussions on the Plan so the local perspective is sufficiently understood 

and so the Panel is made aware if the Plan does not have regard to the 

evidenced needs of communities across West Yorkshire. 

3. Regular Exchange of Information and Intelligence 

3.1 The five CDCs will each complete a quarterly briefing note for use by all Panel 

Members to support them in assessing the impact of the Commissioner 

across West Yorkshire. 

3.2 The lead scrutiny officers will be notified of the deadlines for these briefing 

notes as far in advance as is practicable. These deadlines will be aligned with 

Panel Meeting dates as responses will be required two weeks before each 

Panel meeting. 

3.3 All completed briefings notes are to be formally approved by the CDC Chair 

before submission. 

3.4 Unless a request is made to the contrary, all submissions will be circulated to 

the other CDCs in West Yorkshire to allow comparisons and further linkages 

to be made. 

Page 14



3.5 The completion of the briefing notes will not be an onerous task and will only 

call upon information and examples that the CDCs are already aware of or 

hold. 

3.6 CDCs will be encouraged to play an active role in developing and adapting the 

themes covered within the briefing note.  

3.7 Questions in the briefing note will, at the very least, relate to:  

• The findings of any relevant investigations carried out at the local level 

• Plans for any future investigations at the local level which may be of 

interest or relevance to the Panel and/ or other CDCs in West Yorkshire. 

• Any concerns the CDCs want the Panel to be aware of, to either raise 

directly with the Police and Crime Commissioner or to investigate further. 

• Any suggestions about the way in which the Panel could better support or 

influence the approach of the Police and Crime Commissioner.  

3.8 Panel Members will have sight of all of the completed briefing notes as well 

as a covering note highlighting any common issues or trends. 

3.9 CDCs may also choose to arrange regular verbal briefings with the Panel 

Members representing their authority on the West Yorkshire Police and 

Crime Panel. 

4. Co-ordinating Work Programmes 

4.1  CDCs will submit the latest iteration of their work programmes along with 

 their quarterly briefing notes.  

4.2 These work programmes will then be circulated to the five CDC lead officers 

to help identify linkages across the five CDC work programmes and will also 

be used by the AWYA to identify linkages between the work of the CDCs and 

the Panel. 

4.3 In cases where the CDCs are due to carry out investigations that are likely to 

be of interest to the Panel, the Panel may request a short briefing note 

summarising the results of these investigations. 

4.4 Where one or more of the CDCs are due to investigate the same issue the 

Panel may decide to carry out the investigation at a sub-regional level on 

behalf of all five CDCs or in conjunction with them. 

4.5 If the Panel identifies an issue for concern which relates to only one of the 

West Yorkshire districts, the relevant CDC may be asked to lead on the 

resultant investigation with support from a Panel Member from that 

authority.  

Page 15



4.6 CDCs will be notified of such a request from the Panel at the earliest possible 

opportunity and the Panel recognises that the CDC response to these 

requests will be dependent on the availability of resources at that time. 

4.7 Equally, the Panel’s ability to lead on investigations on behalf of the CDCs will 

be resource and work load dependent. 

5. Aligning Membership 

5.1 Where possible, at least one Panel Member will sit on each CDC to ensure the 

Panel has a detailed understanding of local issues as well as the skills 

necessary to effectively scrutinise the Commissioner. 

5.2 Where membership is not aligned in this way a Panel Member from each 

authority will be designated as the lead Panel Member for their authority’s 

CDC and as such will contribute to CDC meetings and investigations as and 

when required and subject to existing workload pressures. 

Endorsement 

These principles have been endorsed by: 

……………………………………………….. 

Cllr Peter Box (on behalf of the West Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel) 

………………………………………………... 

Cllr Rizwan Malik (on behalf of Bradford CDC) 

……………………………………………….. 

Cllr Helen Rivron (on behalf of Calderdale CDC) 

……………………………………………. 

Cllr Kenneth Sims (on behalf of Kirklees CDC) 

…………………………………………….. 

Cllr Barry Anderson (on behalf of Leeds CDC) 

………………………………………… 

Cllr Laurie Harrison (on behalf of Wakefield CDC) 

 

 

Page 16



Appendix B: 
 

DRAFT PROTOCOL BETWEEN THE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL AND THE 

LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 

 

 

This protocol concerns the relationship between the Police and Crime Panel and the 

County Council’s Scrutiny Commission.  Its purpose is to ensure that:- 

 

(i) Mechanisms are put in place for exchanging information and work programmes 

so that issues of mutual concern/interest are recognised at an early stage and 

are dealt with in a spirit of co-operation and in a way that ensures the 

complementary responsibilities of the PCP and the Scrutiny Commission are 

managed; 

 

(ii) There is a shared understanding of the process of referrals and arrangements 

for dealing with such referrals.  

 

(iii) Share information on work programmes.  

 

 

 

 

…………………………………………     …………………………………… 

Chairman of the      Chairman of the 

Police and Crime Panel     Scrutiny Commission 

 

Date …………………………………. 

 

Page 17



ROLE OF THE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

 

 

Elected Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) and Police and Crime Panels (PCPs) 

were introduced by the 2011 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act.  Under the 

Act, the PCC will be responsible for holding the Chief Constable to account, securing 

an efficient and effective local police force and carrying out functions in relation to 

community safety and crime prevention. 

 

The Leicester City, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel will be 

responsible for  publicly scrutinising the actions and decisions of the PCC and in doing 

so will, inter alia: 

 

1. Review and make a report or recommendation on the draft police and crime 

plan. 

 

2. Hold public meetings to consider the annual report from the Police and Crime 

Commissioner. 

 

3. Review and scrutinise decisions, or other action taken, by the Police and Crime 

Commissioner in connection with the discharge of his functions. 

 

4. Publish all reports and recommendations the Panel makes and send copies to 

the constituent local authorities. 

 

Page 18



ROLE OF THE SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
(as the designated Crime and Disorder Committee) 

 

 

Section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 requires every local authority to have a 

crime and disorder committee with the power to review or scrutinise decisions taken 

in connection with the discharge by the Responsible Authorities* of their Crime and 

Disorder Functions.  The Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 

2009 complement the provisions under Section 19. 

 

The County Council has designated the Scrutiny Commission as the Crime and 

Disorder Committee. 

 

The Scrutiny Commission has determined that it will meet at least once a year to 

consider Crime and Disorder related issues.  It will do so primarily by reviewing and 

scrutinising the Annual Report of the Community Safety Partnership.  The role of the 

Commission is to act as a ‘critical friend’ by constructive challenge at a strategic level.  

The Commission has also agreed that it will consider crime and disorder matters at 

other meetings should the need arise. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* Responsible Authorities on Community Safety Partnerships include:- 

 Local Authorities (County Councils and District Councils) 

 The Police Force 

The Fire and Rescue Service 

The Primary Care Trust (or successor bodies) 

Note – the Police Authority was previously identified as a Responsible Authority. The 

Police and Crime Commissioner has NOT been designated as a responsible 

authority for these purposes. However the Police and Social Responsibility 

Act places a mutual responsibility on PCCs and responsible authorities on the 

CSP to co-operate to reduce crime, disorder and re-offending. 

 

Page 19



WORKING PRINCIPLES 

Given the common aims of both the Scrutiny Commission and the PCP to scrutinise 

the delivery and effectiveness of measures aimed at reducing crime and disorder and 

enhance public safety , it is vital that they:- 

(i) work in a climate of mutual respect and courtesy; 

(ii) have a shared understanding of their respective roles, responsibilities and 

priorities; 

(iii) promote and foster an open relationship where issues of common interest and 

concern are shared in a constructive and mutually supportive way; 

(iv) share work programmes, information or data they have obtained to avoid the 

unnecessary duplication of effort; 

Whilst recognising the common aims and the need for closer working, it is important 

to remember that the Scrutiny Commission and the PCP are independent bodies and 

have autonomy over their work programmes, methods of working and any views or 

conclusions they may reach.  This protocol will not preclude either body from 

working with any other local, regional or national organisation to deliver their aims. 

 

Page 20



WHAT WILL THIS MEAN IN PRACTICE 

 

The Police and Crime Panel is a creature of statute only recently established. Clearly 

it will need time to establish itself and its modus operandi.  The proposals now 

outlined below will need to be revisited in 12months’ time to assess how these are 

working and to consider whether the scope now identified is appropriate. 

 

PCP → Scrutiny 

 

The Police and Crime Panel shall, in discharging its responsibility for commenting on 

the Police and Crime Plan or any variation thereto, seek the views of the Scrutiny 

Commission.  The Scrutiny Commission may, if it so wishes, submit written 

comments to the Police and Crime Panel. 

 

The Police and Crime Panel shall, in discharging its responsibility for commenting on 

the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Annual Report, seek the views of the Scrutiny 

Commission.  The Scrutiny Commission may, if it so wishes, submit written 

comments or questions it considers merit raising with the PCC to the Police and 

Crime Panel. 

 

Scrutiny → PCP 

 

The Scrutiny Commission may, in discharging its responsibility for reviewing and 

scrutinising the Annual Report of the Community Safety Partnership, draw to the 

attention of the PCP any issues which would merit a discussion with the PCC. 

  

PCP ↔ Scrutiny 

 

Where either the Police and Crime Panel or the Scrutiny Commission considers that a 

particular issue (related to crime and disorder) would merit in depth investigation 

either by the Commission/Panel or by a task and finish group this should be 

discussed by the Chairmen and Secretariat of both bodies to determine the scope of 

such a review and agree to which body would take lead responsibility.  The aim is to 

avoid duplication of effort and resources 

Page 21



 
 

1. Meeting: South Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel 

2. Date:  31st March 2014 

3. Title: Police and Crime Panels: the first year 

4. Organisation: RMBC – Host Authority 

 
 
5. Summary 
The Panel will find attached a report from the Centre for Public Scrutiny title “Police 
and Crime Panels: the first year”.  The report provides a helpful overview of the 
challenges identified during the first year of operation.  The Panel may wish to 
consider the issues highlighted in the report, particularly in respect of scrutiny and 
development of the budget and how the Panel may develop its work in these areas. 
 
6. Recommendations 
 
That the Panel: 
      
 

• Considers and notes the contents of the CfPS report “Police and Crime 
Panels: the first year” 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact 
 
Deborah Fellowes, 
Scrutiny Manager 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 
deborah.fellowes@rotherham.gov.uk Tel: 01709 822769 
 

SOUTH YORKSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL – REPORT TO MEMBERS  

Agenda Item 8Page 22



Police and crime panels:  
the "rst year

Page 23



Introduction  03

Methodology  05

Main "ndings  06 

What does “good” look like?  08

Detailed analysis  09

Contents

CfPS

The Centre for Public Scrutiny is an independent charity, focused 

on ideas, thinking and the application and development of policy 

and practice for accountable public services. CfPS believes that 

accountability, transparency and involvement are strong principles that 

protect the public interest. We publish research and practical guides, 

provide training and leadership development, support on-line and off-

line networks, and facilitate shared learning and innovation.

2 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 24



Introduction

In November 2012, the landscape of policing underwent its biggest change  

certainly since the creation of police authorities in 1964, and possibly since the 

creation of watch committees to oversee policing in 1835. This change was the 

creation of the post of directly elected Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) – 

someone to be elected every four years with a mandate to direct the strategic 

priorities of the police force in a given area. 

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, which brought in this 

change, also created Police and Crime Panels (PCC’s) – bodies made up of local 

elected councillors and independent members with the responsibility to scrutinise 

and support the work of the Police and Crime Commissioner. These Panels are not  

local government committees, but they are obliged to meet in public, to publish  

their agendas and minutes, and to ful"l certain key statutory responsibilities.  

The main responsibilities are:

!   To consider the PCC’s Police and Crime Plan (“the Plan”) in draft. The Plan is  

a document setting out the PCC’s priorities for a three year period, and how  

those priorities will be delivered

!   To consider the draft policing budget and draft policing precept. The precept  

is the amount of money that the PCC proposes to levy on council taxpayers  

for the local force. The budget will set out how both the money raised from  

the precept will be spent, and also how other funds will be spent for which  

the PCC has overall responsibility

!   To consider the PCC’s annual report, setting out their activities in the  

previous year

!   To carry out hearings when the PCC proposes to appoint a new chief constable,  

a deputy PCC, a chief of staff/chief executive or a chief "nance of"cer

!   To work to resolve (but not investigate) non-criminal complaints made about  

the PCC.

More detail on these responsibilities can be found in three sets of guidance 

produced jointly by CfPS and the LGA in 2011 and 2012. With a year having  

now passed since the creation of PCCs and Panels, this research aims to establish 

how PCPs have delivered their statutory duties, and how they have carried out  

their work more generally. 

3POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 25



The law

There are a number of statutory instruments, laid in Parliament further to the  

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act, which directly refer to Panels and  

their powers. They are:

!   Police and Crime Panels (Precepts and Chief Constable Appointments) 

Regulations 2012, SI No. 2271 (laid before Parliament 6 September 2012)

!   Police and Crime Panels (Application of Local Authority Enactments) Regulations 

2012, SI No. 2734 (laid before Parliament 1 November 2012)

!   Elected Local Policing Bodies (Complaints and Misconduct) Regulations 2012,  

SI No. 62 (made 10 January 2012)

!   Police and Crime Panels (Nominations, Appointments and Noti"cations) 

Regulations 2012, SI No. 1433 (laid before Parliament 7 June 2012)

!   Police and Crime Panels (Modi"cation of Functions) Regulations 2012 SI No. 

2504 (made 2 October 2012).

Note on the text

References in the text to “of"cers” should be interpreted as local government 

of"cers or employees of associated institutions, not to police of"cers. 

We have referred throughout to Police and Crime Panels as “Panels” and to Police 

and Crime Commissioners as “PCCs”. 

We have used the words “hold to account” and “scrutinise” interchangeably in this 

research. We are aware that some in the sector consider that the two words/phrases 

have different meanings and that there is some discomfort about Panels being seen 

as bodies which hold Commissioners to account. However, we consider that this  

is the practical effect of the legislation, even if the speci"c words are not present  

in the Act itself. 

We refer to “a few”, “a number of”, “some” Panels or Panel members to make 

comments about practice. There are two reasons for this. Firstly, more speci"city 

would reveal the identity of individual Panels, and secondly, we have not carried 

out a quantitative analysis of Panel operations because the sample size is only 41, 

and giving percentages or proportions of this "gure would more likely than not be 

misleading to the reader. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/

ukpga/2011/13/contents

4 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 26



Rather than investigate the duties of Panels in turn, the report draws out some  

key themes from the experiences of those working with, and sitting on, Panels,  

and from a desktop study of publicly-available information on each of the 41 Panels. 

It uses this evidence to make suggestions on how Panels, and those with whom 

they work, can plan their business in future. 

This research is based on a number of evidence sources: 

Telephone interviews

We have carried out phone interviews with Panel support of"cers in 39 of the 41 

affected police areas in England and Wales. We have also spoken to eight PCP 

Chairs and to six independent Panel members. Interviewees were asked a standard 

list of questions, but supplemental questions were also asked to explore the context 

of their answers. 

Desktop analysis of information available online about Panel 
activities

CfPS has looked at meeting minutes and agendas to form a picture of typical Panel 

activity in each of the 41 areas affected. This has  involved making an assessment  

of the online visibility of Panels. 

Surveys

CfPS submitted a number of questions to a survey being carried out by the 

Association of Police and Crime Commissioners (APCC) of its members, with 

thirteen detailed responses having been received. A survey of members of APACE 

(the Association of Police and Crime Commissioner Chief Executives) was also 

carried out, resulting in a similar number of responses. 

Meetings, events and online discussion

CfPS has attended meetings in March, July and November 2013 organised by the 

LGA, and an event in October 2013 organised by CoPaCC, which involved around 

"fty  face-to-face conversations with Panel members and Panel chairs, which were 

recorded and used to form part of the evidence base for this research. CfPS has 

also been involved in delivering training, development and support to seven English 

Panel areas, funded by the LGA. Information from these events has been fed into 

the research as well. 

The LGA curates discussion spaces on the Knowledge Hub where Panel issues  

are discussed, which we have looked at. 

The wider debate about Panels and PCCs

CfPS has looked at research in this area carried out by a range of other people.  

We have had discussions with doctorate candidates engaged in work in this 

area, with the National Audit Of"ce, with the Association of Police and Crime 

Commissioners, the Association of Police and Crime Commissioner Chief 

Executives and the Home Of"ce. We are also grateful to Bernard Rix and  

CoPACC for assistance in understanding the transparency and information  

issues relating to PCCs. 

Methodology 

www.apccs.police.uk

www.apace.org.uk

www.copacc.org.uk

https://knowledgehub.local.gov.uk/

5POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 27



Main "ndings

The success or failure of Police and Crime Panels owes itself, in every  

area, to the quality of the relationship between the Police and Crime Panel, 

the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Of"ce of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner. 

Where #aws or shortcomings in this relationship exist it is not impossible for the 

Panel’s duties to be carried out, but it is signi"cantly more dif"cult. Importantly, 

these shortcomings have a signi"cant impact on the Panel’s effectiveness. In many 

areas, relationships do not appear to be at a level where the Panel is able to make 

a positive contribution – often because of disagreements relating to the kind of 

information about Commissioners’ activities which they are entitled to see. We think 

that a "rst step to resolving such issues would be for the Home Of"ce to strengthen 

the statutory instrument setting out what information Commissioners are required 

to produce around decision-making – subject to what we also say about local 

agreement on mutual responsibilities (see below). 

Shortcomings in the relationship between Panels, Commissioners and  

PCCs’ of"ces often seem to stem from mutual misunderstandings about  

the Panel’s role.

A key factor in the early PCC-Panel relationships in many areas was disagreement 

over role and remit. In some areas, these initial dif"culties have been overcome, but 

elsewhere, poor relationships persist. We think that the Home Of"ce should provide 

clarity to Panels and Commissioners on their mutual role in ensuring accountability, 

transparency and good governance. The statutory duties of the Panel do not go 

far enough in providing this clarity. A lack of certainty has led in some areas to 

fundamental confusion and disagreement about what the Panel is for. 

Resourcing is a further constraint, but only where Panels are seeking to be 

more ambitious about their role. Authorities should give serious thought to 

making more money available to provide additional support to Panels where 

there are particular concerns, and to reduce the pressure on lead authorities, 

who are in many instances providing “in kind” support which exceeds the 

£53,000 provided centrally. 

It is dif"cult for Panels who wish to bolster their “supportive” role by carrying  

out their own research and gathering evidence to in#uence Police and Crime  

Plans and budgets to do so within the "nancial envelope set out by the Home 

Of"ce. This re#ects the fact that the Home Of"ce "gure was reached on the basis  

of bodies which would meet infrequently and only to carry out a narrow range  

of roles. However, it is becoming increasingly apparent that this minimal vision  

of how Panels should work is unsustainable. In order to carry out their statutory 

duties effectively, Panels need a broader understanding of policing and crime  

issues across the Force area, which requires more work and an increased level  

of resourcing. A contribution, in many areas, of £2,000 per authority in addition  

to the funding already committed would make a signi"cant positive difference.  

We recognise that in many areas the commitment of this extra funding will  

prove a challenge.

6 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 28



Panels should come together with PCCs, Community Safety Partnerships 

(CSPs), CSP scrutiny committees and Chief Constables to agree ways of 

working that go beyond the Policing Protocol. 

Fundamental issues about the transparency of decision-making, expectations 

around information sharing and the ability of Panels to transact their statutory 

duties can only be resolved by discussion and agreement, locally, about the mutual 

roles and responsibilities of the various individuals, bodies and partnerships with a 

stake in partnership policing. Such agreement need not be bureaucratic and should 

focus on values, attitudes, behaviours and culture more than on arbitrary deadlines 

and time limits. This will also provide a means to resolve common areas of friction 

around the “balance” between supportive work and scrutiny, and the meaning of  

the operational/strategic division. This will also help to resolve concerns where 

PCCs themselves have set up their own “policy development” groups which  

seem to duplicate the roles and functions of Panels. 

Panels should consider how they can carry out their role with more proactive 

work, where proportionate and where such work relates directly to their 

statutory role.

Proactive work – investigations of key strategic priorities with a view to supporting 

the PCC’s work – will be one key way for the Panel to demonstrate its effectiveness. 

This work will need to be planned carefully to re#ect the PCC’s own work, to 

minimise duplication and to ensure that the focus is on those areas where the 

Panel’s intervention can add the most value. 

In some areas, Panels may be unwilling or unable to carry out work in this way.  

We should emphasise that although we consider the transaction of such work  

as highly productive, Panels may wish to think about other methodologies to 

achieve the same ends – for example, seeking to review the priorities in the  

Police and Crime Plan across the year, through the use of themed meetings. 

Panels should consider how they can better engage the public.

A more consistent approach to how Panels present themselves to the public  

should address many Panels’ low visibility, on the internet in particular. 

7POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 29



What does “good” look like?

On the basis of our research, good Panels:

!   Have sought to engage constructively with their PCC from the outset, and usually 

have some kind of agreement in place with the PCC about information-sharing 

and joint working which goes beyond the terms of the Policing Protocol

!   Use information from a range of sources intelligently, bringing that knowledge  

and understanding to bear on their strategic, statutory duties

!   Have a clear idea of their role and responsibilities, which translates into  

a focused approach to work programming

!   Are well resourced – but more than that, use what resources they have 

proportionately, using the individual skills and expertise of Panel members  

to drive its work forward

!   Are visible – usually by having a dedicated web presence, and having plans  

in place to understand the public’s views, and to bring those views to bear  

on the scrutiny process

!   Work well with others, usually CSPs and CSP scrutiny committees but also  

with a range of other partners where appropriate

!   Where relevant, appropriate, and where resources permit, carry out proactive 

work to actively support the PCC, and to challenge their assumptions and 

priorities as they develop policy. 

The job of ensuring Panels’ effectiveness sits with Panels and PCCs. While  

we think that there are a couple of practical policy contributions that the Home 

Of"ce can make, the fact that the new arrangements work in a number of areas 

demonstrates that they can and should be made to work everywhere without 

signi"cant Government intervention. We consider that the tools and resources 

already exist to make Panels effective. 

8 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 30



Detailed analysis

Preparation: getting ready for November 2012

Panels reported varying success in getting ready for 22 November 2012, when 

the new structural arrangements in policing took effect. While some were putting 

plans in place two years in advance (following the publication of the policing 

consultation in July 2010 that subsequently led to legislation) others did little work 

before June 2012. Wrangles around responsibility for taking the lead authority role 

and disagreements over composition led to problems in some areas. Of greater 

signi"cance was the delay in laying in Parliament statutory instruments which 

clari"ed the legal position of Panels, and made clear various points fundamental 

to the agreement of Panel arrangements. Only available in October and November 

2012, the late preparation of this material led to entirely avoidable last minute 

activity, causing authorities signi"cant expense and inconvenience. 

While all Panels met the statutory deadlines and were in a position to meet formally 

for the "rst time shortly after the election, there were elements of preparation that 

may have been overlooked. Principal amongst these was the need for member 

induction. A large number of Panels took no steps to formally induct members  

into their new roles. There seem to have been a number of reasons for this:

!   Logistical reasons (Some Panels only agreed "nal membership in July and  

had to spend time transacting business in shadow form, such as re"ning their 

panel arrangements. This made a more re#ective induction exercise dif"cult)

!   Financial reasons (with there being no money in budgets for training and 

development)

!   Practical reasons (principally a feeling that most Panel members – especially 

those who previously sat on Police Authorities - would have a comprehensive 

understanding of the local policing landscape, and that further induction and 

training was not necessary). 

The transition from police authorities to PCCs and Panels

The successor bodies to Police Authorities are Police and Crime Commissioners. 

However, a signi"cant number of former police authority members now sit on 

the Police and Crime Panel. We were interested to see how they had made the 

transition to the new role. 

In a few instances it seems to be the case that former police authority members 

are "nding it dif"cult to adjust to their new role. Their expectations of their power, 

responsibilities and the kind of work they should be doing (particularly as seen 

through the minutes of meetings) suggests a desire to focus on Force performance 

- which is more properly the business of the Commissioner. We discuss this 

confusion around the Panel’s role in more depth later in this report. 

This is not the case in all areas. In many parts of the country former police authority 

members have adapted to their role, and are using the skills and expertise they 

gained from having sat on those bodies to good effect in their scrutiny of the PCC. 

However, some ambivalence remains from those former Police Authority members 

who opposed the introduction of elected Commissioners in the "rst place. While 

this is partly an inevitable result of the transition process, and a theme that is likely 

to recede in the coming months, it is still likely that more effective training and 

induction, and more Governmental clarity, prior to last November would  

have resolved any confusion about the Panel’s role and remit. 

9POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 31



Later in this report, we note the experience of some who have resigned from their 

position on Panels, either because they have felt that it is not as effective as the old 

system or because the Panel has a different role to that which they were expecting. 

Powers, resourcing, capacity and composition

Powers and the role

The role in general

In many instances, there has been mutual confusion between Panel members, 

Panel support of"cers, Commissioners and Commissioners’ of"ces about what  

the role of the Panel actually is. 

This has coalesced into disagreement on a number of areas:

!   Disagreements over the balance between the Panel’s supportive role versus 

its scrutiny role. Panel members and support of"cers have advised us that 

some PCCs, and some PCCs’ of"ces, have expressed concern that the Panel 

is not being suf"ciently supportive, or have stated that its principal role is one 

of support. We don’t consider that there is a “balance” to be reached between 

scrutiny and support. The two are not different ends of a spectrum, but a single 

concept – Panels should be critical friends to their PCC, acting as an independent 

voice to constructively challenge their plans in order to deliver strategic and 

operational improvements. 

!   Concern over the strategic/operational split. In some areas, there has been 

concern that Panels are seeking to focus on operational issues, or seeking 

information about operational matters. However, there is no easy distinction 

between the two concepts. In order to understand whether the PCC has 

succeeded in ful"lling his objectives under the Police and Crime Plan, and 

to assess whether previous budgets have been value for money in terms of 

outcomes (an assessment that will be critical when it comes to looking at the 

following year’s budget) there must be consideration of operational outcomes. 

Experience suggests that this evidence must be used to support scrutiny of the 

PCC’s strategic role, rather than looking at operational issues for their own sake. 

As a matter of practice, this might be resolved by Panel members having access 

to a range of operational performance information, but using that information 

as background for its strategic work, rather than bringing such data to Panel 

meetings to ask the PCC direct questions on it. This detailed accountability 

around Force performance is the core element of the PCC-Chief Constable 

relationship. 

An increase in powers?

Over the past year it has been suggested by numerous people that Police and 

Crime Panels should have more powers, or should use their existing powers “more 

effectively”. The Home Affairs Select Committee has been especially forthright on 

this point, having taken evidence from three Panel chairs in May, reporting that,  

“All three of the PCP chairs we heard from believed that their Panels did not have 

strong powers to hold a PCC to account” (although Cllr Peter Box, one of the three 

Panel chairs in question, gave evidence to the committee stating that he did not,  

in fact, believe that powers needed to be increased). 

http://www.publications.parliament.

uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/

cmhaff/69/6910.htm

10 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 32



Overwhelmingly, Panel support of"cers felt that no further powers were necessary, 

and that the challenge lies in Panels using their existing statutory powers 

(particularly around the Police and Crime Plan and the budget/precept) more 

effectively. The feedback from Panel members themselves has been more mixed. 

Many of those to whom we have spoken have expressed strong opinions in favour 

of more powers – particularly a strengthening of the powers of veto over the 

precept, and also increased powers to direct PCCs’ policies. However, others  

have been more equivocal. 

With more powers, Panels would risk becoming mini-Police Authorities, bodies  

with the power to veto more of the PCC’s decisions, and to direct PCCs’ work, but 

with arguably less democratic legitimacy than PCCs themselves. Panels are scrutiny 

bodies, which exist to hold the PCC to account, not to make decisions in concert 

with the PCC or to overturn decisions made by a democratically elected individual. 

Their supportive role (further to the de"nition of the Panel’s responsibilities in the 

Act) means that – ideally – they will provide constructive challenge which supports 

the Commissioner’s development of policy, and to help to deliver the priorities in  

the Police and Crime Plan. The Panel’s principal power lies in its ability to in#uence, 

on the basis of evidence, rather than to direct. There is of course a challenge here 

for Panels to have the resource to gather and analyse evidence in such a way to 

make a positive contribution.

We consider that an enthusiasm for increased powers arises from a 

misapprehension about what the role of the Panel should be, and the dif"culty that 

some former Police Authority members are "nding in making the transition between 

that body and the Panel. This misapprehension arises, in part, from the lack of 

clarity from the Home Of"ce themselves about the broad role that they consider 

Panels should be playing in the new landscape. 

There are two areas where increased powers could be seen as sitting within the 

terms of the existing role of the Panel: 

!   Powers to “call in” the purported suspension or dismissal of the Chief Constable 

by the PCC, as a check on the PCC’s power to do this unilaterally. The PCC’s 

chief of staff / chief executive will have a role in assuring that does not occur, and 

HR and legal advice from within the Force should mean that, when the PCC does 

choose to exercise his or her powers to "re or suspend the Chief Constable, this 

will be on the basis of clear professional advice. Under these circumstances, it is 

dif"cult to see what the Panel could do, other than delay the implementation of 

the PCC’s decision. In such a circumstance the working relationship between the 

PCC and the Chief Constable would have irretrievably broken down. It is possible 

however that the existence of such a long-stop power for the Panel could 

dissuade PCC’s from taking such serious action without "rst considering  

what other options might be available to resolve the situation

!   Powers to refer particular issues to the Home Secretary. Under the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012, a health overview and scrutiny committee may make a 

reference to the Secretary of State where the committee feels that a consultation 

into a substantial variation in local NHS services has not been adequate. This 

is a tightly de"ned exemption. It is possible that this could be introduced as a 

secondary step to the Panel’s veto on the policing precept, or as a possibility 

where the Panel feels that the Police and Crime Plan is inadequate. However, 

rules for the operation of such a power would need to be tightly circumscribed  

for the purposes of certainty. 

11POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 33



Both of these possible powers would need to be treated as “long stops”. Although 

both have been raised as options by practitioners there would be substantial legal 

and technical hurdles to jump for them to be feasible – particularly reference of 

matters to the Home Secretary. However, if attempts were made to "t these new 

powers in with the existing role, they could be made to work. 

We consider that any attempt to increase powers would be a medium to long term 

ambition. It is too early to make accurate judgments about whether new powers 

would "t comfortably within Panels’ existing role, and what the impacts of this 

would be on the wider accountability and decision-making structures within which 

Panels operate. We have considered the issue here only insofar as it has been 

raised by those we’ve interviewed, and do not consider that a change in powers  

is necessary for Panels to be successful or effective. 

A reduction in powers?

Conversely, it is possible that Panels’ powers could be reduced. 

The Panel’s principal role sits around the budget and policy cycle for the PCC’s 

strategic activities. There are two Panel roles which sit outside this cycle – 

con"rmation hearings, and the resolution of non-criminal complaints against  

the PCC. 

We explore some of the practical dif"culties that Panels have experienced around 

both of these issues later in the research. 

Given the resource constraints under which some Panels "nd themselves, there 

may be sense in Panels relinquishing their complaints role – with complaints being 

dealt with at initial stage by the PCC’s of"ce, and if unresolved by the Independent 

Police Complaints Commission. The Panel could retain strategic oversight of  

the process, rather than being responsible for resolving individual complaints  

(i.e., it would be responsible for assuring the inherent fairness of the complaints 

system). In doing so, the Panel would also be able to identify whether any broad 

patterns were emerging from complaints being submitted.

Con"rmation hearings have presented a challenge for many Panels. Their purpose 

is unclear, although it could be argued that they represent a high-pro"le way for the 

Panel to act as a check on the PCC, and while many Panels have struggled to "nd  

a way to carry them out so that they add value, they are still seen as an important 

part of the role. 

It is dif"cult to understand, in practical terms, how the Panel is being expected to 

contribute to the appointments process for the selection of a new Chief Executive, 

Finance Of"cer or Deputy PCC. For the appointment of the Chief Constable, the 

Home Of"ce have recognised that the process is more critical, giving the Panel 

a veto. But it is dif"cult to envisage a circumstance in which such a veto – which 

would be potentially career-ending for any Chief Constable against which it was 

exercised – would be used, and a number of the Panel support of"cers and Panel 

members to whom we spoke expressed scepticism as to whether it would ever 

be a realistic option. It would suggest that the PCC’s and the Force’s appointment 

system for senior of"cers was fundamentally #awed, which would arguably be a 

systemic matter, only soluble through the intervention of Her Majesty’s Inspectorate 

of Constabularies. 

12 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 34



While we do consider that these are the parts of the Panel’s role that use up 

disproportionate amounts of resource for the impact they have on strategic  

policing in the area, for the reasons set out above we consider that such a reduction 

might be something for policymakers to consider in the medium to long term only. 

Such a change in powers is not required in order to secure the effectiveness of 

Panels in the short term. 

Resourcing and capacity – councillors and independent members

Councillors and independent members sitting on Panels have been expected to 

engage with a signi"cant amount of work over the course of the past year.

Most Panels have met more frequently than the four times envisaged by the 

Home Of"ce. In some respects this re#ects a need to do so to meet statutory 

requirements (in the case of large numbers of con"rmation hearings, for example) 

and a determination to carry out their statutory duties effectively (for example, those 

Panels who have held multiple meetings to consider the PCC’s budget). As such 

it may be that in 2014, the number of meetings will reduce. However, among the 

Panel members and chairs to whom we have spoken there is a strong view that 

four meetings per year will be insuf"cient, and that the Panel will need to meet more 

frequently to conduct its business effectively. This is re#ected in the views of Panel 

support of"cers as well. This is an issue to which we will return later, but it has an 

obvious implication for members’ time commitment. 

This time commitment has led the membership of some Panels to change over  

the course of the past year. It is not a consistent national trend, but around a dozen 

council leaders have stood down from Panels. This may be because of a lack of 

capacity to engage fully with Panels’ work. In some instances, this has also been 

driven by a disenchantment with Panels, which are seen as ineffective as a means 

to effect change. Leaders tend to have other, more informal, “routes in” to liaise with 

and in#uence the PCC. We are aware of a number of leaders who have stepped 

down from Panels because of a feeling that they are “toothless”, and/or who  

have stepped down because they consider attending Panel meetings to be  

less important than they had expected. 

For independent members, resourcing and capacity constraints are different. 

Independent members are brought on to Panels to provide valuable expertise and 

a different perspective to elected members. Many independent members to whom 

we’ve spoken talk positively about their experiences, and what they’ve been able 

to bring to the Panel. However, in some areas they do not receive support from 

the lead authority to enable them to transact their role properly. In some areas little 

thought seems to have been given to the particular needs of independent members 

– who will not have access to the range of background information which might be 

available to elected members, certainly when those elected members on the Panel 

are predominantly Cabinet members and/or Leaders. For example, it is the practice 

for many such members to receive brie"ngs from their authority’s community 

safety manager in advance of Panel meetings, but this approach tacitly excludes 

independent members, who are not tied to a single authority. Assumptions are also 

made about independent members’ familiarity with the broader local government 

context in which Panels sit (for example, the way in which community safety, and 

broad strategic policing priorities, engage with local government policymaking in 

issues such as health, children’s services, environmental services and so on). 

13POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 35



Independent members may need more support. But the availability of such support 

will continue to be subject to constraints itself, as we will go on to see in the next 

section. 

Allowances/expenses

Currently, there is provision for Panels to make £920 available to cover expenses  

for Panel members. 

Many Panels have not supplemented this by putting in place an allowances scheme 

for members, but some have done so (with levels of allowances having been set 

by Independent Remuneration Panels). Levels of allowances vary considerably – 

from nothing at all to as much as £10,000. This variation does re#ect the signi"cant 

regional differences on allowances for local government committees. 

It has been suggested to us that the provision of allowances would help to support 

councillors and independent members who are subject to considerable pressures 

on their time and both attending, and travelling to, meetings. There is not enough 

evidence to determine whether Panels making provision for allowances are more 

effective than those who do not (or whether, if that is the case, such effectiveness 

is down to other factors). As with other aspects of resourcing, this is an area where 

Panels and their constituent authorities will have to make an appropriate local 

determination.

Resourcing and capacity – support from councils

Most Panels have made use of the £53,000 made available by the Home Of"ce 

to back"ll existing posts in Democratic Services, rather than to appoint a new 

dedicated of"cer to support the Panel. We have been told that this is because 

lead authorities are unwilling to commit to a permanent member of staff when 

there is no guarantee that Home Of"ce funding will continue inde"nitely. There 

is signi"cant worry that the Home Of"ce will withdraw Panel funding imminently, 

leaving lead authorities with the responsibility to develop local agreements on 

funding themselves. We do not think that local authorities will be in any position to 

commit a substantial resource to supporting PCPs inde"nitely, although a handful 

of PCPs have managed to secure the agreement of their constituent authorities to 

supplement the £53,000 with additional contributions from councils in the area. 

Such an approach seems to be most prevalent in areas with pre-existing positive 

working relationships between the councils in the area. On the other hand, in some 

areas, the suggestion that an additional contribution might be made by authorities 

has been explicitly rejected. 

Those areas under the most pressing resource constraints are those where  

minimal provision has been made for of"cer support for the Panel. Home Of"ce 

funding is not ring-fenced, and it is for the lead authority to decide how to "nance 

the Panel. But this situation has caused some challenges – particularly around the 

requirement to resolve non-criminal complaints against the PCC, which take up  

a disproportionate amount of time. 

There are a range of different approaches that have been taken by lead authorities 

to resource Panels. Broadly speaking they fall into one of the following options:

14 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 36



!   A dedicated of"cer, or of"cers, who have a responsibility to provide support  

to the Panel. This is a person who has been recruited speci"cally for the role  

on a permanent contract

!   Back"lling of the lead authority’s Democratic Services function to fund existing 

of"cers to provide support to the Panel, alongside other duties

!   Support from the lead authority’s Community Safety team, with the community 

safety manager (or similar) providing the primary means of support

!   No single focus for support, with assistance being drawn in from Democratic 

Services, a scrutiny team (if there is one), community safety and other places, 

with arrangements being overseen by a Head of Legal Services or similar. 

Under all of these arrangements, there have been challenges around the range 

of skillsets required by of"cers providing support to Panels. A mixture of of"cers 

provide support –community safety managers, democratic services of"cers and 

scrutiny of"cers being most common. High level HR, legal and "nancial support 

has also been needed. The wide range of professional expertise which this implies 

suggests that it will be dif"cult to continue to provide adequate support to Panels 

within the existing funding envelope. Lead authorities are not generally keeping 

detailed records, but it seems likely from what we have heard that lead authorities 

are expending resources in excess of the £53,000 grant to provide this wider 

range of support. This bears out the reasoning behind the unwillingness of many 

authorities to commit to taking on “lead authority” status when Panels were set up. 

Resourcing issues have an impact wider than just the Panel. We’ve been advised 

that an increase in resources to Panels will have a knock on impact on OPCCs, as 

the quantity of requests for information from Panels increases with their workload. 

We will discuss information sharing later in this report, but we consider that more 

resourcing for Panels could actually result in a decrease in the call on the time of 

OPCCs. Better resourced Panels will be more able to directly access information 

and will not have to rely on the OPCC for it. 

At the outset, we hypothesised that the resource issue would be felt most  

acutely by those lead authorities which were shire districts, but this is not the  

case. This may be because community safety responsibility in two-tier areas  

sits formally with district councils, meaning that community safety of"cers can 

provide some support to Panels in a cost-effective way.

How can resourcing be managed better?

!   Authorities could make available additional discretionary resources where there seem 

to be concerns about the level of funds available. In many areas, even a commitment 

of an additional £2,000 per council would, for the average Panel with seven to ten 

authorities represented on it, work to defray some of the additional costs to lead 

authorities, and make it more easy for Panels to take a more forensic, strategic and 

proportionate approach to their activities. It is important that this money should 

not be seen as a transfer from local scrutiny functions to the PCP, because well-

resourced local scrutiny (as we will note below) in the form of strong and effective 

community safety scrutiny committees provides a key means to ensure the Panel’s 

15POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 37



effectiveness. We recognise that this option has been speci"cally excluded in 

many areas, and that for other Panels any further "nancial commitment would be 

exceptionally dif"cult to negotiate, but it is an issue that is worth raising in advance  

of the 2014/15 budget

!   More business could be transacted in smaller work groups. We do not recommend 

the creation of large numbers of standing sub-committees but giving responsibility to 

focus on particular issues or areas to smaller groups of Panel members, or individual 

Panel members, might afford a more proportionate way to prepare for major set-

piece meetings. This will work against what may otherwise be a natural tendency  

to schedule more full Panel meetings

!   Clearer prioritisation and a focus on core tasks may be necessary. We look in more 

detail into this issue later in the research

!   As a matter of some urgency, the Home Of"ce should provide some clarity over the 

"nancial commitment it proposes to make to the support of Panels. We are aware 

that an ongoing commitment has been given to the extent that this is possible within 

central Government accounting rules, and taking into consideration inherent political 

uncertainty, but the resourcing and powers of the Panel should be seen as going  

hand in hand. 

Capacity and ability to carry out effective "nancial scrutiny

Many Panels found scrutiny of the budget and precept especially challenging  

in early 2013. With Panels only having been in operation for a couple of months, 

and with Commissioners themselves only having had a few weeks to develop fully 

costed proposals for 2013/14 to support their planned precept, it is unsurprising 

that many told us that they felt that their scrutiny of the budget was only super"cial. 

Some Panels have carried out no further "nancial or budget scrutiny other than 

that speci"ed in the Act, but some have tried to take and analyse quarterly budget 

information produced by the PCC. In most cases, thoughts are turning to the 

budget for 2014/15. Most are aware that this will be the "rst year in which the  

PCC is able to stamp his or her personality on policing plans. 

While some Panels are planning to undertake budget scrutiny training, many are 

not, and a substantial number of Panels have yet to engage substantively with their 

PCC to decide how budget scrutiny will be carried out. While some now expect 

to have relevant information on options, budget outlines and priorities provided to 

them in November 2013, and while most expect to have at least some information 

by the New Year, others have assumed that no information will be shared until 

late January 2014, in line with the statutory requirements. This is likely to place a 

signi"cant constraint on a Panel’s ability to carry out their statutory duties properly 

in January and February 2014. What contribution these Panels are, in the end, able 

to make is likely to be minimal. However, we do consider that the majority of Panels 

will, for the 2014/15 "nancial year, be able to make a tangible, practical contribution 

to the budget and precept-setting process.

16 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 38



It is unfortunate, however, that in a number of instances PCCs and their of"cers 

seem to be taking a doctrinaire approach with regard to the sharing of "nancial 

information with the Panel. This actively hinders the Panel’s scrutiny role. It is based 

on an erroneous view of the strategic/operational split in the PCC’s, and the Panel’s, 

role. It is also based on an unreasonably restrictive interpretation of the Panel’s 

statutory duties. We will return to the issue of information – sharing later. 

How can Panels carry out "nancial scrutiny most effectively?

!   Meaningful early engagement is critical. PCCs cannot expect Panels to be able  

to engage constructively with the budget and precept if key information is not shared 

until the end of January 2014

!   Panel members should receive quarterly "nance, performance and risk monitoring 

reports against the PCC’s priorities. This information should not be tabled at a Panel 

meeting, but should form a source of background evidence for Panel activity

!   Panels should engage more closely with CSPs, and CSP scrutiny committees, to 

better understand how the PCC’s budget is allocated to deliver against community 

safety priorities. We explain more on this later

!   Panels should think seriously about training on police and community safety 

budgeting, even if they have some experience on this issue. 

Capacity, ability and willingness to carry out “proactive” scrutiny 
and investigative work

Just over half of Panels are now actively planning to engage in what some call 

“proactive” scrutiny work. This is detailed work investigating issues of priority to 

both the local area and the PCC. This work can be seen as supportive of the PCC’s 

policy development process. Of the remainder, only a handful have been categoric 

in saying that they do not plan to undertake such work. The main reason given for 

this is that Panel chairs in those areas hold the view that investigations into speci"c 

policy issues are not the role of the Panel, but should be for the PCC to lead on, with 

the Panel holding the PCC to account on concrete plans being implemented. Such 

Panels are focusing their work on post-hoc scrutiny of PCC decisions and their core 

statutory duties. 

Where it is being carried out, such proactive work is only getting under way now 

because of the high pressure and pace of statutory work being conducted in the 

early part of the year. Many sitting on, and supporting, Panels feel that there have 

been two distinct phases of operation for them:

!   a "rst phase, running from November 2012 to early summer 2013 dominated  

by statutory activity

!   a second phase running from summer 2013 onwards, where the Panel is able  

to take a more strategic approach to its work. 

17POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 39



There seem to be three principal mechanisms of carrying out “proactive” scrutiny 

work:

!   Thematic Panel meetings. Each meeting of the Panel (other than the meeting to 

consider the budget, precept, plan and so on) will be themed to a single priority  

in the PCC’s Police and Crime Plan, allowing for in-depth discussion. This is a 

low-cost means of ensuring that the Panel can carry out more proactive work,  

but the thematic approach means that the Panel’s scrutiny may be quite 

broadbrush in nature

!   Task and "nish working. This will be familiar to those of"cers and councillors  

who work with local government scrutiny committees. Small time-limited working 

groups are established to investigate particular policy issues, and to make 

recommendations. This can be a focused and effective means of working,  

but is resource-intensive. Around ten Panels are planning to operate in this  

way, or have already set up T&F groups

!   Setting up a small number of standing subgroups to look at speci"c issues.  

A few Panels have set up standing groups to look at the Police and Crime  

Plan and the budget as they are developed. 

These approaches to proactive scrutiny are not mutually exclusive. 

Given the fact that many Panels are only now beginning to undertake this 

proactive work, we have been able to "nd out little about planned topics, and it 

is too early to talk about outcomes. However, PCCs have on the whole seemed 

to be positive about this work, and its potential to support the way they develop 

their plans and policies. It has signi"cant potential to bolster both the pro"le and 

effectiveness of Panels as they enter their second year in operation. However, from 

our experience and research on local government scrutiny, it will be critical that 

Panel’s programmes for such proactive work link closely with PCCs’ own plans. 

Where relationships between Panels and PCCs are less well developed, it has been 

suggested to us that such work might constitute a “pinch point” in that relationship, 

on account of the potential for Panels’ proactive work to overlap with that of the 

PCC. It will be important to resolve any of these wider issues relating to the PCC-

Panel relationship before more proactive work is undertaken. 

Panels’ proactive work will be undertaken by support of"cers within the lead 

authority, being "nanced for the most part through the £53,000 made available  

by the Home Of"ce for Panel support more generally. This will provide a constraint, 

and where authorities in a given area "nd themselves unable to make further funding 

available Panels will have to be extremely discriminating about how, when and why 

they undertake such work. 

Using proactive scrutiny work to make Panels more effective

!   Proactive scrutiny has the potential of bolstering the Panel’s conduct of its core 

statutory duties, and should be carried out with this primary objective in mind.  

It will be important that the Panel does not, in carrying out this work, create an 

“industry” that sees it straying away from its core statutory duties

18 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 40



!   Effective work programming and close liaison with the PCC will make proactive work 

easier to manage and resource, and will enhance its ability to support PCC decision-

making

!   A focus on the content of the Police and Crime Plan will ensure that proactive work 

feeds directly into the Panels statutory duties, but must be undertaken in such a way 

that it focuses on those areas where the Panel can add most value

!   Work programming should involve a robust approach to prioritising work, de"ned by 

the Police and Crime Plan and by background data to which the Panel might have 

access. Having a way to transparently determine the Panels priorities will help to 

manage limited resources.

Composition

In our guidance on composition in October 2011 we suggested that Panels  

should be comprised only of non-executive councillors (i.e. the Cabinet members  

or Leaders should not be included). We made this suggestion because of a feeling 

that Panels would be involved in investigating decisions made by the PCC that 

related to community safety funding. Because many community safety Cabinet 

members, and council Leaders, sit on and in some cases chair Community Safety 

Partnerships, we were concerned that if those people also held the PCC  

to account, it might constitute a con#ict of interest. 

We note that most Panels still have at least some executive members sitting on 

them. However, there is a distinct trend towards more non-executive members,  

as some Cabinet members and Leaders have stepped down from Panels and  

been replaced by others. We commented on this trend in more detail in the  

section above on member capacity. 

Most Panels have “top up” members – multiple members from a single authority, 

selected to meet the objective of balanced representation in terms of political 

parties, geography and population. Although this makes most Panels quite large, 

there is no evidence that their size makes them less effective (supported by "ndings 

from our annual survey of overview and scrutiny in local government, which looked 

in detail at the effects of committee size on the effectiveness of scrutiny bodies in 

local councils). However, as Panels seek to engage in more detailed and proactive 

work, the logistical limitations in conducting “whole Panel” work may become more 

apparent. Some Panels have already sought to circumvent this problem by doing 

some work in task and "nish groups (see section above), or setting up informal 

sub-panels – for example, a smaller group to prepare for the scrutiny of the PCC’s 

budget. A couple have also used the opportunity to assign speci"c responsibility for 

various subject areas to individual Panel members, bringing this knowledge to bear 

on Panel discussions in plenary. This represents a pragmatic approach to using the 

skills and time of all on the Panel effectively. Again, however, it is too early to say 

what the broader impact of this will be on the Panels overall effectiveness, and it is 

important to note that some Panels feel that resourcing considerations make work 

of this kind impossible, or will at least severely limit it.

As well as councillor members, all Panels have two independent members. Open 

recruitment processes were carried out for these over the course of summer 2012  

http://www.local.gov.uk/c/document_

library/get_"le?uuid=8f16dd65-7fde-

4792-8578-fa955263931e&groupId=10180

19POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 41



in most instances. For some Panels, this process was quite rushed. However, 

Panels have attracted a high calibre of independent member. We have only been 

able to speak directly to a handful, but most do seem to be fully engaged in the 

business of the Panel, and are able to deploy their particular skills and experience 

effectively. However, in a minority of instances this does not appear to be the case, 

and Panels might do more to understand what their independent members can 

contribute, and the additional support that they may need over and above the 

information and advice all members of Panels receive. 

Using Panel composition to make the Panel more effective

!   Although we recognise that having Leaders and Cabinet Members sitting on Panels 

helps to ensure that strong links are made between them and councils, experience 

continues to suggest that non-executive members are more likely to have the time 

and capacity to commit to making Panels a success as scrutiny bodies

!   Larger Panels should take the opportunity to consider how they can conduct 

proactive scrutiny in task and "nish groups, and also carry out preparatory work for 

their statutory duties in smaller groups (recognising the fact that some of those duties 

must be carried out by the Panel as a full body)

!   The use of “rapporteurs” – individual members of Panel who can be tasked to keep 

a watching brief on key areas of PCC policy and performance – will help to ensure 

that all members play an active role. It will also reduce the need for the submission 

of reports to the Panel “for information”. Again, this is a step that has already been 

undertaken in a minority of areas.

Relationships between the Panel and other bodies

Relationships with the PCC

In many areas, relationships with PCCs are positive and productive. In these areas, 

signi"cant work has been undertaken to ensure that PCCs and Panels do work 

well together. Some areas have formal protocols to de"ne how the relationship will 

operate – for most, however, arrangements are based on close liaison between the 

OPCC, PCC and the Panel. 

While relationships are now settling down, at the start and for some time after there 

were some instances where dif"culties occurred. In some areas, these dif"culties 

continue. Some include:

!   A PCC and most members of a Panel being from the same party, with a number 

of councillors on the Panel knowing the PCC socially, leading to a perception 

that they might be “getting an easy ride” (although the situation in many areas 

appears more complex than this, and some Panels who share their dominant 

political af"liation with their PCC have been able to be robust, challenging and 

supportive)

20 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 42



!   A PCC and most members of a Panel being from different parties, with the  

Panel using meetings as a political platform (although in some instances this  

may derive from con#icting priorities between the PCC and the CSPs in the  

area, rather than exclusively a party political disagreement)

!   Panel members in some areas being opposed to the concept of PCCs,  

and using their role to try to obstruct the work of the PCC

!   PCCs being unused to public sector accountability “norms” (such as reporting  

to boards and committees) and seeing the Panels work as interference

!   Particular issues causing #ashpoints – especially con"rmation hearings

!   Misunderstandings and disagreements about the Panel’s role

!   Circular and legalistic arguments about what information the Panel  

is “entitled” to have access to, and which areas they should and shouldn’t  

look at, based on a restrictive interpretation of the division between strategic  

and operational policing. 

We should make it clear that, in many areas, most of these issues have been 

resolved. Where disagreements occurred, they seemed to be as the result of early 

misunderstandings about function and role, and a byproduct of the necessary 

speed of PCC and Panel activity in the early days. However, problems relating  

to the above points do persist in a minority of areas, and suggest the existence  

of fundamental differences of opinion over the Panels role and remit. 

Political issues

Political af"liation appears to make little difference on its own to the PCC/Panel 

dynamic. Relationships seen as “cosy” may owe themselves more to personal 

relationships between the PCC and Panel members (for example, where some 

members were previously on the Police Authority, or the same council, as the PCC) 

as they are owing to political af"liation. More fractious relationships may come  

down to reasons other than political disagreement – in some instances, clashes  

in personal style (see below) are more obvious causes. 

Dif"culties have also occurred with the engagement of PCCs and Panels in the new 

arrangements in an ideological sense. A minority of PCCs and a number of Panel 

members and chairs appear to remain opposed to the whole concept of directly 

elected police commissioners and a number of Panel members bemoan the demise 

of the Police Authority. There is a sense, in some areas, that participants are biding 

their time until the structures are either fundamentally redesigned or abolished by 

Government. As a consequence, there is an unwillingness to put efforts into making 

those structures work. The perceived ineffectiveness of Panels has, in some areas, 

become a self-ful"lling prophecy, as members and PCCs who regard them as 

“toothless” have not sought to think creatively about their role, instead becoming 

disengaged from the arrangements as they cannot achieve with them that which 

they had originally hoped. 

Some of those to whom we spoke – of"cers, councillors and other stakeholders 

- felt that the new arrangements for strategic policing are fundamentally #awed, 

which has limited their willingness to engage more fully in the work of Panels over 

the past year. 

21POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 43



A majority of of"cers supporting Panels have expressed the view that Panels are 

effective only insofar as they are complying with their statutory duties, but that they 

have yet to prove themselves in terms of making a clear difference on the ground. 

However, a substantial minority do consider that the Panels they support have been 

effective in bringing about real local change (for example, bringing about changes 

to the Police and Crime Plan or helping the PCC to engage more effectively with 

partners). 

Getting hold of information from the PCC

Commissioners are required to publish information in line with the Elected Policing 

Bodies (Speci"ed Information) Order 2011. 

Information on PCC decision-making

A minority of Panels have found it dif"cult to get hold of even basic information 

about PCC decision-making. For these Panels, there have been two principal 

problems. 

Firstly, Panels have been unable to "nd out about planned decisions. This may be 

because of the lack in some cases of a published forward plan of such decisions 

by the Commissioner and an unwillingness on the part of the Commissioner, 

or the Commissioner’s of"ce, to engage the Panel in policy development. The 

Commissioner is obliged to publish information on decisions which are of a 

“signi"cant public interest”, but the legislation does not de"ne what this means. 

Some Commissioners themselves have not sought to decide what the de"nition  

of such a decision might be. There is no national consistency on this matter.

Secondly, Panels are unable to "nd out detail of decisions once they are made. 

The guidance notes issued further to the 2011 Order did suggest that background 

papers should be made available (following guidance previously issued on this 

subject by the Information Commissioner for public authorities). However, there  

is no legal requirement to do this and we have been told that in a number of 

instances requests for such information has been refused. 

Information on the budget and precept

The timescales in place for the setting of the 2013/14 budget were exceptionally 

challenging. PCCs had around six weeks (including the Christmas and New Year 

period) to put their plans in place and to develop a credible and implementable 

budget and plan for 2013/14. As such, most plans and budgets bore a close 

resemblance to plans and budgets adopted by the Police Authority.

In almost all instances Panels had to wait until the deadline, or very shortly  

before the deadline, before seeing any information from the Commissioner.  

In a few instances all Panels knew before the meeting when they had to examine  

the precept itself was the level of that precept. There does not seem to have been 

any consistency in the way that background papers have been provided to Panels 

to allow them to conduct this important work effectively. 

We hope that most of these dif"culties relate to the exceptionally short timescales 

which were imposed upon PCCs to develop their budget and precept plans around 

the New Year of 2013. A small number of Panels were in fact able to conduct 

constructive scrutiny of the budget, but such an approach required foresight and  

22 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 44



a quick commitment from the newly elected PCC to make it happen. In a few areas, 

liaison over the future budget started as soon as the PCC was elected (and in one 

or two instances, shadow Panels liaised with the Police Authority on plans before 

November), which led to much more productive experiences when the formal 

meeting on the precept came around in January or February. 

There is a risk that this year’s experience, where it has been less than positive, 

may in#uence attitudes and behaviours in future years. While in a majority of areas 

conscious efforts are being taken by Panels and PCCs to carry out more work in 

advance of formal meetings next January and February, a substantial minority of 

Panels have resigned themselves to seeing partial information very late in the day. 

Where this has happened, PCCs and their of"ces have justi"ed their decision not 

to share information earlier on the basis of the legislation. This re#ects the legalistic 

approach to some PCCs’ engagement to which we referred earlier, which is serving 

to actively harm the Panel/PCC relationship and to diminish Panels effectiveness.

Information to support con"rmation hearings

Informal guidance issued by the LGA and CfPS to support con"rmation hearings 

suggested that key information would need to be shared with the Panel by the 

Commissioner to ensure that con"rmation hearings would complement the internal 

assessment processes being used to select a preferred candidate for appointment. 

In most instances, the information that we suggested be shared – relevant CV and 

biographical information of the candidate, questions asked at interview – has been 

shared. However, there have been some instances where PCCs have refused to 

share this information, making it very dif"cult for con"rmation hearings to be carried 

out properly. 

We are particularly aware that information to support the con"rmation hearings of 

deputy PCCs has been dif"cult to come by. In some instances PCCs have even 

been unable to furnish the Panel with information about the job description for their 

deputy, because the role is ill-de"ned and/or has not been through the usual process 

of job design and evaluation. It is of course the case that the position of Deputy  

PCC does not need to be advertised and is, effectively, in the gift of the PCC. 

Many Deputy PCC positions have been overtly political appointments – which is 

unsurprising, given that this is allowed for in the legislation and that a PCC may 

want to delegate some of their powers to people who they know, trust and who 

share their political outlook. 

However, the essential informality of such arrangements makes con"rmation 

hearings exceptionally dif"cult. For the most part, con"rmation hearings for  

deputies have been described to us as unproductive. A number of Panel support 

of"cers, and members to whom we spoke, described the exercise as “tick-box”  

or “going through the motions”. 

A number of Panels have asked PCCs to share with them questions that appointees 

have been asked during the "nal interview process. However, in some instances 

PCCs have refused to comply with these requests. This raises the signi"cant 

likelihood that the same questions will be asked in both forums unnecessarily. There 

is no legal justi"cation for such a refusal to share information, as demonstrated by 

the experience of PCCs who willingly share such information, and a couple where  

a Panel member has even been invited to shadow the recruitment process as  

an observer. 

23POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 45



General issues around information sharing

Research carried out by CoPACC has found that, at the time of their research 

(November 2013) none of the 41 Police and Crime Commissioners fully published 

the primary and secondary information they were required to by law. 

A minority of Panels have found it dif"cult to get information from the PCC following 

direct requests. For some, information is only provided after repeated requests, and 

is incomplete. In some instances the PCC has refused to publish information about 

forthcoming decisions until after the decision has been made. This re#ects a lack of 

consistency nationwide in the way that PCCs publish information about decisions 

they have made, or the background information that informs those decisions.  

This makes it more dif"cult for the Panel to support the PCC’s decision-making 

activities. 

Where Panels are able to consider PCC decision-making, the results of such  

work are ambiguous. In many cases the lack of supporting information has made  

it dif"cult to discern where PCC decisions do, or don’t, relate to the Police and  

Crime Plan, which makes it dif"cult for Panels to prioritise their work. 

A consideration of decisions made by the PCC should form the background of the 

Panel’s work ( i.e. it should help the Panel to direct which areas it should and should 

not focus on), but the inadequacy of information being provided on a wide range  

of issues (not just decision-making) has pushed it to the foreground as the only way 

many Panels feel that can have a concrete in#uence on PCC activity. Inevitably, this 

has the potential to produce tension and frustration on the PCC side, as the Panel’s 

objectives for wishing to look at certain decisions is therefore unclear. There has 

been a tendency in some areas for Panels to undertake regular post-hoc scrutiny  

of PCC decisions, which is not an effective use of time and which has little impact. 

A lack of information about the context in which PCC decisions sit exacerbates this 

problem. Even if more information were to be available, we do not consider that 

regular consideration of PCC decisions, without any discrimination as to which are 

or are not tabled at the Panel’s meetings, will be anything other than a super"cial 

exercise. More advance warning of decisions will allow the Panel to select issues 

(rather than decisions) where they feel they can seek to in#uence what the PCC 

eventually decides to do. 

The inconsistent approach to provision of information has wider consequences. 

Without easy access to information it is very dif"cult for the Panel to decide where 

it directs its resources. Some PCCs and their of"ces have resisted requests to 

access information on Force performance, and quarterly performance and "nancial 

information – with such attempts being interpreted as an attempt by Panels to carry 

out the role of the Police Authority. But without this background information, Panels 

will be unable to understand how the Police and Crime Plan is being implemented 

and how operational delivery is having an impact on the strategic context of the 

budget (and area-wide community safety priorities). Again, this is derived from a 

mutual misunderstanding about what the role is, and about what kind of information 

and support is required for the Panel to transact that role. A more open approach  

– whereby a core set of information is provided by PCCs as a matter of course –  

will decrease the call on the time of OPCCs (because they will not be responding  

to individual requests for information) and Panels (because they will not have to 

waste their own time making such requests). 

24 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 46



Where these problems are present, they have at their core a risk aversion which  

has infected the whole PCC-Panel relationship. PCCs are unwilling to provide 

Panels with more information than they feel they are obliged to do by law. It is 

dif"cult for Panels to then use what information is provided to draw strategic 

conclusions about the PCC’s work, which makes it more likely that they will look 

at scorecards and primary operational data in isolation – further fuelling PCC 

scepticism about their effectiveness and a feeling that they have misunderstood 

their role in the new structures. 

Where it exists, this vicious cycle must be broken for the new arrangements to  

work. There is no intrinsic fault in the system that makes such problems inevitable, 

but the requirements of trust and understanding on both sides are challenging.  

A substantial number of Panels have been able to successfully build relationships 

with their PCC that have seen information provided on request, and used in a 

proportionate and timely way. For example, some Panels have been provided  

with "nancial information and projections which is allowing them to conduct work 

in advance of their formal consideration of the budget and precept in early 2014. 

In these areas, the dispute over the difference between strategic and operational 

issues has been sidestepped – there is an understanding that the Panel needs 

access to operational data in order to carry out its strategic role. 

Managing decision-making and the sharing of information more effectively

There are a number of steps that we believe can be taken to build and maintain better 

relations between the PCC and the Panel, with a view to strengthening decision-making 

and information sharing arrangements. 

1.   An undertaking of openness (going beyond the existing legislation) in the way 

that PCCs make decisions. For example, an undertaking would take the form of a 

presumption that all information held by the PCC would be made public unless there 

were a clear and overriding reason not to do so.

2.   Agreements, supplementing the undertakings in the Policing Protocol (as de"ned 

in the Policing Protocol Order 2011), to establish how and when various kinds of 

information may or may not be shared between the PCC, Panel and other partners, 

with a view to reducing duplication and the burdens inherent on OPCCs and Panels 

from the making of ad hoc requests for information at different times of the year. This 

will be particularly valuable for the Panel’s statutory duties, such as con"rmation 

hearings and scrutiny of the precept.

3.   A move, by Panels, away from direct monitoring of individual PCC decisions, towards 

using PCC decisions as background for more detailed scrutiny of a smaller number 

of strategic issues.

4.   The development of a presumption (further to the agreement mentioned in the 

second bullet point) that Panels should be able to access operational information to 

provide background to their strategic role – both from the Force and the PCC’s of"ce. 

This would need to take account of the fact that the Panel would not necessarily be 

able to expect the PCC to provide narrative reports (in writing) to the Panel prepared 

for its speci"c use.

 

25POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 47



5.   The use of the process of coming to such an agreement to iron out any lingering 

misapprehensions or misunderstandings about the mutual roles of the PCC and  

the Panel. 

Discussions focusing on improved information-sharing have taken place in a 

number of Force areas, but in many others agreement is badly needed. It has been 

suggested that a change in the legislation is required to impose further information 

publication duties on PCCs. While we can see the value in this as a limited approach 

– for example, in obliging PCCs to publish a forward plan of key decisions (the 

de"nition of which should be set out formally), what information is available to the 

Panel should be subject to local discussion and agreement, depending on how 

the Panel plans to support and scrutinise the PCC in practice. This may demand a 

slightly different approach from area to area, which a detailed national scheme may 

not be able to provide on its own. However, we do think that a national, consistent 

scheme providing for the publication of a wider range of information by PCCs – 

which goes beyond the existing statutory instrument – would form an important 

framework for such further work. 

Relationships with Community Safety Partnerships and CSP 
scrutiny committees

CSPs

For 2013/14, Commissioners have provided funding to Community Safety 

Partnerships to deliver on a number of their priorities. From next year, this will 

change – but for the moment, CSPs in all areas remain fundamental to the success 

of PCCs. 

There is one CSP for every local authority area in England and Wales. CSPs are 

usually chaired by the council’s Portfolio Holder for community safety, although 

sometimes the council’s leader acts as the chair. They are held to account by local 

overview and scrutiny committees using powers given by the Police and Justice  

Act 2006. 

Relations between Panels and CSPs, and CSP scrutiny committees, appear  

to be sporadic and ad hoc. There is often not an effective mechanism for 

intelligence and data to be shared between Panels, CSPs and their corresponding 

scrutiny committees. In many instances, the fact that many Panel members sit  

on CSPs is the only reason that any liaison does occur. For example, a number  

of authorities have systems in place whereby the Community Safety Manager  

(or similar of"cer) will brief their Panel member on CSP activity prior to the  

Panel meeting. However, this does not occur for every Panel and every authority. 

Even where it does occur, it can lead councillors sitting on the Panel to focus  

unduly on operational matters that are speci"c to the geographical area which  

they represent. 

Where Panel members are also senior members of CSPs, they have in a couple 

of isolated instances used the Panel to argue for more CSP funding for their own 

areas. In the vast majority of areas, however, Panel members clearly understand  

26 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 48



the need for the Panel to work more strategically. But even in these areas,  

more formal arrangements for the sharing of information do not exist. 

This will be a dif"cult challenge for Panels to overcome. On the one hand,  

Panels’ investigations of the Commissioner’s work will involve a focus on CSPs, 

as (for the moment) they are a key delivery agent. On the other hand, a focus on 

the operational business of CSPs – rather than how their work contributes to the 

ful"lment of the PCC’s election promises – will risk the Panel straying onto business 

that it has no legal role in considering. We consider that the reticence in engaging 

with CSPs may be due in part to this concern. There are also dif"culties around the 

question of ownership of CSP policies and priorities, given the transition between 

protected funding, pre-PCCs, and the new situation whereby PCCs will have far 

more freedom to disburse money to CSPs, or not, at their discretion. 

However, in many areas, the primary reason for the lack of engagement so far  

has been, we think, more prosaic – it is simply an issue of the availability of time  

and resources. 

CSP scrutiny

Community Safety Partnerships are held to account locally by CSP scrutiny 

committees under the Police and Justice Act 2006. A committee must be 

designated to carry out this role in unitary and lower-tier authorities. In two-tier areas 

(i.e., those areas for which there is a county and a district council) there is often a 

county-wide CSP, which is sometimes shadowed by a scrutiny committee of the 

county council. CSP scrutiny, and scrutiny by the Panel, needs to be well integrated. 

This is because PCCs’ principal means of tackling broader priorities around crime  

is the funding which, currently, is transferred to community safety partners. 

Few Panels have had any kind of meaningful contact with the CSP scrutiny 

committees in their area. Where discussions had taken place there were usually  

two reasons:

!   The of"cer supporting the Panel also supported the CSP scrutiny committee  

in the host authority, and as such was aware of issues under discussion by  

their committee, and others in the area, and to plan accordingly, or

!   The Force area shares the same boundaries as the county council, and there  

is a county CSP scrutiny committee, meaning a single point of contact on both 

sides. There are a few instances of quite close integration following this model 

!   Most PCPs do recognise the need to engage with CSP scrutiny in the future. 

Most of those we spoke to were planning to develop more formal mechanisms 

for information sharing with these bodies, or were in the process of doing so. A 

minority, however, have no clear plans. Usually this is down to a lack of resources, 

although it has been suggested to us that a lack of interest amongst some Panel 

members, and from some CSP scrutiny committees, is a factor as well

!   Building meaningful relationships between CSP scrutiny committees and Panels 

will be critical in ensuring that the right kind of scrutiny is undertaken at the right 

level. Where Panel members might feel that there is a reason to undertake work 

into operational matters, effective links with CSP scrutiny committees will mean 

that those matters can be passed down for them to consider instead. Equally, 

where Panels are aware of the work programmes of CSP scrutiny committees, 

27POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 49



they will be able to draw links between operational matters which may help  

to identify broader strategic issues. 

Relationships between Panels themselves – collaboration 
arrangements

Not many Panels have thought in depth about how they might work together with 

Panels in neighbouring areas. 

There are an increasing number of police forces entering into arrangements for the 

sharing of services with their neighbours. These arrangements are often expressed 

in terms of collaboration on operational matters – sharing back of"ce functions, 

for example. However, they will usually have strategic implications, in terms of 

the freedom available to the PCC to design services that "t around such joint 

arrangements, and the necessity to work together with the PCCs of neighbouring 

areas to de"ne the scope and nature of those agreements. 

This may mean that Panels themselves need to co-ordinate some of their work 

with their neighbours. We are not aware of any consistent approach being taken 

to the scrutiny of such joint arrangements, even where they are signi"cant. This is 

worrying, because collaborations are expected to become more widespread, having 

been promoted strongly by both HMIC and the Home Of"ce, and being seen as  

a key means of identifying more ef"ciencies in the face of shrinking budgets. 

Joint work between Panels would be dif"cult to arrange. Physical joint meetings 

would be cumbersome and logistically complex. It is likely that informal co-

operation in areas of mutual interest will be a more proportionate approach. 

Information sharing could take a similar form to that which we have proposed for 

CSPs above. Where such informal co-operation takes place, the Panel should 

probably take steps to make public its processes and outcomes. 

Certainly, there is a case for co-operation and discussion of mutual interests where 

collaboration arrangements are being proposed and developed. Panels’ input into 

this exercise – which will presumably be led by the PCC – will help to challenge the 

assumptions that PCCs might make about such arrangements, along with helping 

to identify, discuss and mitigate any risks. 

Building relations between Panels, CSPs and CSP scrutiny

!   Joint work between Panels in different areas – where required because of joint 

arrangements between neighbouring forces – can be carried out informally rather 

than through the establishment of formal joint structures

!   Practical information sharing between Panels and CSP scrutiny committee should  

be undertaken, which could be as straightforward as ensuring that the Panel chair 

and support of"cer are on the agenda distribution list for CSP scrutiny committees  

in the area

!   The agreement between the PCC and Panel mentioned in the previous section should 

include sections on the division in accountability between Panels and CSP scrutiny 

committees, and covering the ways in which Panels will engage in CSP-related issues 

(given the high likelihood of overlap, further to the PCC’s funding responsibilities)

28 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 50



!   Where the Panel proposes to look at issues relating to the CSP, such matters should 

relate back to the PCC’s strategic priorities, to the Police and Crime Plan, and to the 

budget, rather than to local concerns best dealt with by CSP scrutiny committees

!   Arrangements for brie"ng members on community safety issues in advance of Panel 

meetings should be more consistent and formalised, rather than (as occurs in a few 

instances) relying on individual community safety of"cers in separate councils to 

provide this advice to their representative(s) on the Panel.

Making a difference

It is dif"cult to demonstrate the effectiveness of Police and Crime Panels after just 

one year. Commissioners themselves are only now able to stamp their individual 

personalities on their planned budgets, plans and precepts for 2014/15. We’re of  

the view that it’s as part of this planning exercise – between now and March 2014,  

and beyond – that Panels will come into their own as a strong, challenging and 

supportive voice to Commissioners – where Commissioners choose to listen  

and bring them on board. 

Visibility, and representing the public voice

Visibility

In order to establish Panels’ visibility to the public we have looked at their web 

presence. Doing so tells us something about how easy it is to "nd out information 

about their work. Of course, the amount of information available online about  

Panels cannot tell us a de"nitive story about how well they engage with the public, 

as it does not take into account any wider public engagement work which Panels 

might choose to undertake. 

A number of Panels have no distinct web presence. Most do have a dedicated 

page on the website of their lead authority, setting out their role, remit, membership 

and responsibilities. For some, however, the only public evidence of the Panel’s 

existence is the presence of its agendas and minutes in the public agenda 

management system of the lead authority. 

The majority of meetings are not webcast. Given that many Panels cover wide 

geographical areas, the presumption in favour of webcasting might be seen 

as higher than with standard council meetings. We recognise that some lead 

authorities still have no facilities in place for webcasting and that the "nancial outlay 

for this is signi"cant. We are also aware that some Panels move around, holding 

meetings in different locations, some of which do not have webcasting facilities. 

We are aware of instances where members of the public have sought to record  

and broadcast footage of the Panel in session, something that ought to be 

encouraged in the absence of of"cial facilities to do this. 

It is vital that Panels are visible to those in the local community. The Panel must 

have a relatively high pro"le in order to provide local people with the information 

they will need in order to make an informed choice at the ballot box – quite apart 

from the role in assuring the public that the PCC is being effectively held to  

account between elections. 

29POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 51



Getting the views of the public

Up to this point, most Panels have focused on formal set-piece meetings. As we 

have seen, this is likely to change. With this change will come, we expect, a more 

focused approach to public engagement. A number of the Panels aiming to carry 

out more “proactive scrutiny” are speci"cally planning to carry out such work in the 

coming months. It goes without saying that such work should be complementary 

to similar work being undertaken by the PCC, and that the justi"cation for carrying 

out such work should directly re#ect the Panel’s core role in holding the PCC to 

account. Panels should, as we highlighted earlier, be wary of creating an “industry” 

around their responsibilities that uses up a disproportionate amount of resource.

How can Panels go about engaging with, and representing, the public voice?

!   It is likely that the PCC will receive digests of issues raised at neighbourhood beat 

meetings; the Panel could use this information to help to direct some of its work

!   When the PCC proposes to formally consult or engage the public, the Panel could be 

directly involved in this work as part of its supportive role

!   Steps – such as webcasting and better engagement with the media – could be taken 

around major set piece meetings (such as debates around the budget and precept, 

and the police and crime plan) 

!   As a matter of course, the web presence of Panels and their general “accessibility”  

to the public, both physically and virtually, must be addressed

!   Where Panels plan to undertake “proactive scrutiny”, the subjects chosen should 

re#ect both the Commissioner’s priorities and the priorities of local people (which 

are likely to be very similar). Such proactive scrutiny needs to be planned so as to 

actively seek the involvement of the public

!   Steps to involve the public need to take account of the fact that Panels cover large 

geographical areas, making traditional public meetings and face-to-face contact 

dif"cult to achieve (and costly for Panels with resource constraints). Use of social 

media, and contact with representative groups (such as residents’ association)  

might provide a more targeted approach. 

Securing meaningful change

The question, “are Panels effective?” is a dif"cult one to answer. Here, we will  

judge effectiveness in two ways:

1.   Successfully ful"lling the statutory duties of the Panel (a minimal description  

of effectiveness).

2.   Securing a tangible, positive impact for local people – bringing about, through 

their work, change that would not have occurred but for their involvement  

(a maximal description of effectiveness).

30 CENTRE FOR PUBLIC SCRUTINY

Page 52



Most Commissioners have yet to make their mark on the policing landscape, 

and most Panels have recently come to the end of a six to eight month period 

dominated by frequent meetings to review the Police and Crime Plan, proposed 

Chief Constable appointments, senior OPCC appointments, the appointments of 

Deputies, and budget and precept setting. This work, driven by necessity, has led to 

some early positive outcomes. We are aware, for example, of the content of several 

Police and Crime Plans being changed as a direct result of Panel suggestions – but 

by and large it is still too early to say if Panels are effective, mainly because it is too 

early to say whether PCC’s themselves are effective. 

Many Panel chairs, independent members and Panel members are very positive 

about the future of Panels and their successes to date, and have a general desire 

to make things work, and to make them work well. However, there are a substantial 

number of dissenting voices. A number of Panel members and chairs to whom  

we have spoken, from all parties, have expressed cynicism about the likelihood  

of Panels having a long term effect. Some support of"cers, too, are dubious  

about how much Panels will be able to achieve in the future. 

We think that a clear focus on mutually-agreed core tasks for Panels will help  

to secure their success. As we have noted previously, in some areas there is too 

much of a tendency to look at decisions after they have been made, and to focus 

on PCC decision-making as the central component of Panel’s work. We don’t 

consider that this presents the most effective and value for money use of the Panels 

time. A clearer focus on the Panels statutory duties – and the undertaking of work 

designed to directly feed into those duties – will, we consider, make Panels more 

effective within their existing "nancial constraints. But this will itself require close 

co-ordination with PCCs. 

Ultimately, effectiveness comes down to making a difference on the ground.  

All the Panels in England and Wales are effective in that they have successfully 

concluded their statutory duties over the course of 2013. But few can yet 

demonstrate a tangible impact on the local community. We think that it is too 

early to expect this, but it should be Panels’ ultimate aim to make a difference 

– to result in positive things happening that would not have happened but for 

their involvement. We do think that most Panels are on this trajectory, as they 

begin to undertake more proactive scrutiny and as relationships bed in. We 

are, therefore, con"dent that when researchers return to this issue in future 

years, they will see concrete examples of Panels bringing about this positive 

change. But it is not guaranteed, and in some areas more work will be required 

to make this happen. 

31POLICE AND CRIME PANELS: THE FIRST YEAR

Page 53



The Centre for Public Scrutiny

Local Government House

Smith Square

London SW1P 3HZ

44 (0) 20 7187 7362

CfPS is a registered charity no 1136243

January 2014 www.cfps.org.uk@CfPScrutiny (#cfps2014)

Page 54



South Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel 
 

Future Work Programme and Meeting Dates 2014/15 
 
 

Date Meeting/Activity 

 
March – May 2014  
 

 
Task and Finish Group - Website 

 
2nd May,  2014 at 
1.30 p.m.  
 
Please note the start 
time for this meeting. 

 
PCP meeting: 
 

• PCC refreshed Police and Crime Plan  

• PCC response to HMIC report on CSE 

• Report back from Website Task and Finish Group 
 

 
May 2014 – July 2014 

 
Task and Finish Group – Performance Management 
Framework for the Police and Crime Plan 
 

 
30th July, 2014 at 
1.00 p.m. 

 
PCP Meeting: 
 

• PCC Annual Report  

• Report back from PMF Task and Finish Group 
 

 
July – September 2014 
 

 
Task and Finish Group – Domestic Abuse 

 
8th September, 2014 at 
1.00 p.m. 

 
PCP Meeting: 
 

• PCC Finance Report 

• Report back from Domestic Abuse Task and 
Finish Group 

•  

 
8th December, 2014 at 
1.00 p.m. 

 
PCP Meeting: 
 

• PCP community engagement report 
 

 
30th January, 2015 at 
1.00 p.m. 

 
PCP Meeting: 
 

• Budget and precept 
 

 

Agenda Item 9Page 55


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Previous Meeting held on 31st January, 2014 (herewith)
	7 Joint Working Protocols (report herewith)
	8 Police and Crime Panels - The First Year (report herewith)
	Police and Crime Panels - The First Year Attachment

	9 Work Programme and Meeting Dates 2014/15 (information herewith)

